Impacts of urbanization on carbon balance and human health risk: I. & II. Soil carbon dynamics under impervious surfaces and III. Water quality influences on a common West Nile virus vector.

by

Hamed Majidzadeh

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama December 10, 2016

Keyword: Urban ecosystem, Soil carbon, Soil nitrogen, Impervious surface, Urban mosquitoes, West Nile Virus.

Copyright 2016 by Hamed Majidzadeh

Approved by

 B. Graeme Lockaby, Chair, Associate Dean and Professor, School of Forestry and Wildlife Sciences
 Latif Kalin, Professor, School of Forestry and Wildlife Sciences
 Art Chappelka, Professor, School of Forestry and Wildlife Sciences
 Joey N. Shaw, Professor, Department of Crop, Soil and Environmental Sciences

Abstract

A significant increase in urbanization will be observed during the next fifty years. Global environmental changes cannot be addressed without a better understanding of biogeochemical cycles in urban areas. Thus, more insight into the effects of urbanization on (i) soil biogeochemical properties, and (ii) water quality and its interactions with public health including increasing population of urban mosquitoes, are of critical importance. In this research, the effects of soil sealing by urban impervious surfaces such as building, roads, sidewalks, and parking lots on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics investigated. In a second study, the effects of urbanization and expansion of urban lawns on survival rates of mosquitos related to infection of West Nile virus was examined.

In order to study the effects of urban impervious surfaces on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics two separate approaches were required: 1) A field controlled study consisting of three different treatments (i) concrete slabs, (ii) mock-up of houses built on a crawl space and (iii) grassed (reference) plots. In this study, we found that the major cause of carbon loss beneath impervious surfaces was top soil removal . Soil carbon content decreased by 48.39 % (\pm 16.29 %) and 56.99 % (\pm 8.59 %) beneath the concrete and homes compared to reference plots at top 10 cm. The soil C beneath the concrete plots decreased over time while it fluctuated beneath the homes. The carbon loss to atmosphere beneath the homes at top 10 cm was the major mechanism of carbon loss following the initial disturbance. Moreover, nitrogen, microbial biomass, and net nitrogen mineralization rate were significantly lower beneath impervious surfaces compared to

ii

reference plots. However, accumulation of nitrate and phosphate beneath the impervious surfaces was evident. 2) A field chronosequence study was necessary to verify the result from the control study and shed light on true gain or loss of carbon beneath impervious surfaces over time. In this study, we quantified soil carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and influential parameters affecting them beneath homes built on a crawl space ranging from 11 to 114 years in age. The average soil C and N content in the top 10 cm were 61.86 % (\pm 4.42 %), and 65.77 % (\pm 5.65 %) respectively lower beneath the homes in comparison to urban lawns. The soil C and N loss beneath the homes revealed a quadratic correlation with age and maximum C loss occurring at approximately fifty years in age. Microbial biomass carbon (MBC), and nitrogen (MBN) were significantly lower beneath the homes compared to the urban lawns.

The third chapter was to determine the effects of urbanization and formation of urban lawns on survival rates of mosquitoes using a laboratory microcosm approach. Abscised leaves from three common overstory tree species in the southeastern United States and turfgrass clippings were used to simulate potential backyard breeding habitats for *Culex*. Urban lawns also alter water quality which may be affected by the surrounding vegetation which serves as a source of organic matter. Abscised leaf treatments had significantly lower survival rates than grass treatments with maximum pupae development of 3.93 ± 2.29 % in the pine treatment and 1.92 ± 1.72 % adult development in the sweetgum treatment. Grass treatments developed 28.50 ± 5.75 % and 22.50 ± 4.79 % pupae and adult mosquitoes respectively, suggesting that urbanization and formation of urban lawns create a suitable habitat for growth of mosquitoes when water ponding exists.

Acknowledgments

I offer my most sincere gratitude to my major advisor Dr. B. Graeme Lockaby. It has been a great honor and opportunity to build my academic career under his supervision at Auburn University. I would like to acknowledge my committee members, Dr. Latif Kalin, Dr. Art Chappelka, Dr. Joey Shaw, and Dr. Yucheng Feng. Their vast knowledge and experience improved this study in many ways.

My special thanks to Robin Governo, for helping me both in laboratory, field and writing the manuscripts. This research was not possible without her kind help. I would like to thank Robert Price for the great site designs and technical support. This research was not possible without their help both in laboratory and field. I also thank Louis Governo for his assistance in locating homes built on a crawl space to sample.

I am grateful to Center for Environmental Studies at the Urban-Rural Interface (CESURI) for supporting my research and School of Forestry and Wildlife Sciences for the productive and friendly environment which made this experience very enjoyable.

I thank Dr. Nannan Liu of the Department of Entomology and Plant Pathology for providing mosquito egg rafts from her lab, Dr. Todd Steury for his contribution in data analysis, Dr. Yucheng Feng for letting me use her lab for UV spectroscopy analysis. I also would like to thank Jun-Jian Wang and Matthew C. Ricker for their valuable feedbacks. I thank Hossein Talebinezhad, and Luke Price for their help in the field and laboratory.

I would like to thank my colleagues and friends, Amir Reza Sharifi, Mehdi Rezaeianzadeh, Ann Huyler, Rasika Ramesh, Megan Bartholomew, and Enis Baltacı for

iv

their help and supports. My especial thanks to Navide Noori, a great friend and talented colleague who helped me join the Auburn family.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family. This was not possible without their love and support. I thank my sister Maryam, and my brothers Hossein and Tohid. I dedicated this work to my parents Nahid Ardekani and Ezzat Majidzadeh who always believed in me and supported me, and my fiance Golbou Makki who was always by my side.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	.X
Chapter1: Introduction	1
Research purpose and objectives	6
References Cited	7
Chapter2: Soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics beneath urban impervious surfaces: A field	t
controlled study 1	6
Abstract 1	6
Introduction 1	17
Material and methods 1	9
Statistical analysis2	22
Results	22
Soil volumetric water and temperature2	22
Soil carbon and nitrogen2	23
Soil Microbial Biomass	25
Net nitrogen mineralization2	26
Other soil physiochemical properties2	27
Discussion	28

References
Tables and graphs
Chapter 3: Effect of home construction on soil carbon storage in the Piedmont of the
Southeastern United States
Abstract
Introduction
Material and Methods
Study area
Soil properties
Microbial biomass
Statistical analysis
Results
Soil Carbon and Nitrogen
Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen54
Other soil physical and chemical properties
Discussion
References 59
Tables and graphs 68
Chapter 4: Effects of Urbanization and Urban Lawns on Survival Rate of Mosquitoes 77
Abstract

Introduction	
Material and Method	80
Statistical Analysis	82
Results	83
Chemical characteristics of abscised leaves and turfgrass	83
Effect of vegetation type and nutrients on water quality	84
Effect of vegetation type and water quality on number of pupae	85
Effect of vegetation and water quality on number of adult mosquitoes	86
Weight, time to pupation, and sex correlation	88
Discussion	89
References Cited	91
Tables and graphs	100
Appendix	107
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Summary	108

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Mean soil temperature (°C) in warm and cold periods of the year beneath different treatments at depth 10 cm and 20 cm
Table 3.1. Mean ± standard error of soil characteristics sampled at two depths (0-10 cm (n=2) and 10-20 cm (n=2)) beneath the homes constructed on a crawl space (n=24) and in urban lawns (n=24)
Table 4.1. The experimental design was factorial with five types of vegetation and five levels of nutrients with three replicates
Table 4.2. Carbon $(n = 2)$, nitrogen $(n = 2)$ and lignin $(n = 1)$ concentrations in turfgrass and abscised leaves used in the mosquito microcosm experiment
Table 4.3. Results of a generalized mixed model for parameters related to number of pupae, adult female and male mosquitoes without sweetgum treatments

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. 5m x 5m Reference (A), Concrete (B) and Home (C) plots. Each plot has a 4 meters buffer zone around it
Figure 2.2. Soil volumetric water content pattern over a year at depth 10 cm (A) and 20 cm (B) at reference plots and beneath concrete and homes
Figure 2.3. Monthly variation of mean soil carbon by treatment (n=4/ month) at layer one (A), and two (B). Monthly variation of mean nitrogen content by treatment at layer one (C) and layer two (D)
Figure 2.4. The monthly dynamic of soil microbial biomass carbon by treatment (n=4/ month) at layer one (A), and two (B). Means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$
Figure 2.5. (A) Variation in soil nitrogen mineralization rate over time by treatment (n = 4/ month). (B) in soil ammonium content (n = 4/ month). (C) in soil nitrate content (n = 4/ month) over time
Figure 3.1. Mean ± standard error soil a) C and b) N content (kg m-2) in urban lawns and beneath the homes built on a crawl space at two depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm)
Figure 3.2. Carbon loss from the soil beneath the crawl space of homes a) 11-114, b) 11-53, and c) 53-114 years old. Second order polynomial (a) and linear trend line (b, c) used to illustrate the patterns
Figure 3.3. Nitrogen loss from the soil beneath the crawl space of homes age 11 to 114 years. Second order polynomial trend line used to illustrate the patterns. R-square reported for the polynomial trend line
Figure 3.4. The correlation between soil C and N in a) urban lawns and b) beneath the crawl space of homes
Figure 3.5. Soil a) microbial biomass C (and b) microbial biomass N (ug g-1) in urban lawns and beneath the crawl space of homes at two depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm)
Figure 3.6. Correlation between C concentrations (g kg-1) and soil bulk density (Mg m-3) in a) urban lawns and b) beneath homes constructed on a crawl space
Figure 3.7. Correlation between carbon content and soil water in A) urban lawns (0-10 cm), B) urban lawns (10-20 cm), C) beneath homes (0-10 cm), and D) beneath homes (10-20 cm)

- Figure 4.1. Variation in DOC over time (40 days, n = 3 at each measurement). Means \pm standard error followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at α = 0.05.103
- Figure 4.2. Percent larvae developed to pupae, female, and male adults. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$104
- Figure 4.3. Comparison of time to pupation among different vegetation treatments. Means \pm standard error followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$105

Chapter1: Introduction

Effects of land use change on soil carbon dynamics have been an important aspect of global climate change research in recent years (Pouyat et al., 2009; West and Six, 2007). Anthropogenic sources emit approximately 8.7 Gt (1 gigaton = 1 billion tons) of carbon to the atmosphere per year (Menon et al., 2007). However, the increase in atmospheric carbon is approximately 3.8 Gt per year (Stockmann et al., 2013). This highlights the importance of biosphere carbon sinks. Soil is the second largest pool of carbon following the oceans (Stockmann et al., 2013) and its potential to be used as a potential solution to increasing atmospheric carbon concentrations have been widely discussed (Pouyat et al., 2009; Raciti et al., 2012a; Stockmann et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2014b). The soil carbon capacity is determined by the nature of vegetation (or land cover), precipitation and temperature (Lal, 2004), and thus can be altered through land use change. Land use change may alter the inputs and outputs of carbon (Lal, 2004) and, as a result, the soil may act as a source or sink of carbon. The top one meter of the soil stores approximately 1500 Gt of organic C with more than 40% of it stored in the top 20 cm (Jobbágy and Jackson, 2000; Stockmann et al., 2013). Consequently, it is of great importance to study the effects of land use and land cover changes on soil carbon storage. In particular, the effect of urbanization and conversion of forests and grassland to urban and exurban uses is critical (Pataki et al., 2006).

A significant increase in urbanization will be observed during the next fifty years (United Nations et al., 2014). Urbanization has been shown to impact soil physical, chemical, and biological properties including carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) storage and sequestration rates (Elvidge et al., 2007; Milesi et al., 2005). For instance, studies in Baltimore, MD (Raciti et al., 2008), Colorado (Golubiewski, 2006; Kaye et al., 2006), Oakland, CA and Chicago, IL (Pouyat et al., 2006a) concluded that urban land use may increase C storage. However, they have only measured soil carbon in urban grassed areas such as lawns and parks. Similar studies also have reported a decrease in carbon in areas with inherently high soil C storage such as Boston, MA (Pouyat et al., 2006b; Raciti et al., 2012b) and Syracuse, NY (Pouyat et al., 2006a). However, these estimates have not considered the effect of urban impervious surfaces on soil C and N storage.

Artificial soil sealing is a consequence of urbanization and infrastructure construction. The earth's total impervious surface (580,000 Km²) is estimated to encompass an area bigger than the size of Spain (Elvidge et al., 2007; Raciti et al., 2012b). The United States has the largest amount of impervious surface per person (297 m²/ per person (Elvidge et al., 2004) in world. Impervious surfaces such as buildings, pavements, and sidewalks may alter soil biogeochemistry in many ways including limiting the exchange of gasses, water, energy, and organic matter (Byrne, 2007; Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009a).Top soil removal which is a common practice in the installation of most of the impervious surfaces results in the elimination of highly active soil biota and organic matter which have a critical role in upper soil biogeochemistry (Lorenz and Lal, 2009). Installation of impervious surfaces may increase the soil bulk density which limits water and air penetration thereby affecting the biogeochemical cycling of C and N (Lehmann and Stahr, 2007). Moreover, soil sealing can have a great influence on heat exchange within the soil and between the soil and the atmosphere.

2

Impervious surfaces such as roadways, parking lots, and roofs have a relatively low albedo (Takebayashi and Moriyama, 2007), and would have a higher surface temperature during the day resulting in a lower temperature in the soil beneath them while the soil may have a higher temperature compared to open areas during the night. Temperature affects the chemical and microbial processes in the soil including organic molecules adsorption and desorption as well as microbial activities such nitrification (Sollins et al., 1996). The data suggest that a 1°C increase in temperature could ultimately lead to a loss of over 10% of soil organic C in regions of the world with an annual mean temperature of 5°C whereas the same temperature increase would lead to a loss of only 3% of soil organic C for a soil at 30°C (Kissel et al., 2009).. Sealing changes soil water regimes as well. The direct infiltration of water will be limited by impervious surfaces and the temperature regime described above will alter the moisture regime. Moreover, soil sealing increases runoff which will increase the risk of erosion, flooding and ponding (Shuster et al., 2005).

Despite the importance and magnitude of changes that may be caused by the impervious surfaces, there have been only a few studies where soil beneath impervious surfaces was sampled (Raciti et al., 2012b; Wei, 2014; Yan et al., 2015a). Soil C beneath impervious surfaces was 2.29 kg C m⁻² [top 15 cm, New York, U.S. (Raciti et al., 2012b)]; 2.35 kg C m⁻² [top 20 cm, Nanjing City, China (Z.-Q. Wei et al., 2014)]; 2.46 [top 20 cm, Yixing City China (Z. Wei et al., 2014a)]; and 3.55 [top 20, Urumqi City, China (Yan et al., 2015a)]. Normalizing these values to the top 100 cm (minimum value of 5.8 kg C m⁻² in New York) reveals a significant underestimation of C in studies were

sampling did not occur. In these studies. Assumptions ranged from zero (Tomlinson and Milne, 2006) to 1 kg m⁻² (Cannell et al., 1999; Schaldach and Alcamo, 2007) to 3.3 kg m² (Pouyat et al., 2006a) for the top 100 cm.

The few studies that have sampled beneath the impervious surfaces have included soil beneath road pavements, paved residential squares (Raciti et al., 2012b; Z. Wei et al., 2014b), and residential driveways (Edmondson et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2015b). However, various impervious surfaces such as home, road, sidewalks, and parking lots may have carry different effects on carbon storage due to variation in material, age, and size. Moreover, it is not clear if changes beneath impervious surfaces are only a result of top soil removal, and the initial disturbance or soil sealing. The true gain or loss of carbon beneath these surfaces following the installation of impervious surfaces have not been investigated. It is not clear whether the soil beneath impervious surfaces becomes biologically inactive, or may act as a sink or source of carbon.

To address these knowledge gaps, two separate studies were required. A field controlled study conducted consisting of three different treatments (i) concrete slabs, (ii) mock-up of houses built on a crawl space and (iii) grassed (reference) plots. This study was designed to monitor changes in soil properties and in particular soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics over the first year to understand if changes in soil properties are solely the result of top soil removal, or soil sealing. Moreover, this study also addressed the question regarding whether different types of impervious surfaces have different effects on soil carbon.

4

In the second chapter, we quantified soil carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and influential parameters affecting them beneath homes built on a crawl space. All homes were sampled in the Piedmont region of Alabama and Georgia, USA, and ranged from 11 to 114 years in age. Of the homes in the United States, 21.4 % are built on crawl spaces, while less than 24% were constructed on concrete slabs (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013). This chronosequence approach enabled us to study net gain or loss of carbon beneath urban impervious surfaces.

The goal of the third chapter was to determine the effects of urban vegetation on the survival rates of *Culex* mosquitoes, the primary vector of West Nile virus. The majority of urban open lands consist of decorative grassed lawns including parks, and green spaces attached to homes (Milesi et al., 2005, 2003). Urbanization may affect mosquito habitat through its influence on the quality of water that serves for larval development. This includes pollution and inputs of different types of urban vegetation which is necessary for mosquitoes as a carbon source. For instance, it has been shown that sweetgum leaves leach more dissolved organic carbon (DOC) than longleaf pine, bald cypress, and water tupelo leaves (Majidzadeh et al. 2015). The effect of vegetation on water quality may be magnified when native forests are replaced with lawns. The forest floor, naturally covered with dead and decomposed leaves, is replaced by highly managed lawns (i.e. fertilized, weed removal, clipped regularly). These changes in water quality can create habitat changes for urban mosquitoes including *Culex* which is the vector of West Nile virus.

Disease vectors and in particular urban mosquitoes have long been a global public health threat (Benelli et al., 2015; Kilpatrick and Randolph, 2012). Ongoing outbreaks of West Nile (WNV), Zika (ZIKV), and chikungunya (CHIKV) viruses are examples of urban mosquito-borne diseases (Attar, 2016; Ezenwa et al., 2006). West Nile virus (WNV), unlike the ZIKV and CHIKV, has caused epidemics every summer (Coffey and Reisen 2016) with over 1500 deaths since it was introduced to the United States in 1999 (Allan et al., 2009; Petersen LR et al., 2013). Culex quinquefasciatus (the southern house mosquito), inhabits regions with tropical and temperate climate and is considered a vector between species since it can infect birds, livestock, and humans (Allan et al., 2009). Currently, no vaccines are available for WNV. Therefore, strategies to minimize *Culex* populations are required to prevent the spread of the disease (Benelli et al., 2015; Benelli and Mehlhorn, 2016; Jeffries and Walker, 2016). Considering the life cycle of *Culex* and its critical dependence on water, deeper insight into the effect of water quality on the survival rate of the mosquitoes is required. To that end, a laboratory microcosm study was designed which included abscised leaves from three native overstory tree species in the southeastern United States and turfgrass clippings to simulate influences of lawns.

Research purpose and objectives

Global environmental changes cannot be addressed without a better understanding of biogeochemical cycles in urban areas (Rao et al. 2013). In order to influence urban development policies that minimize environmental degradation and enhance urban ecosystem services, more insight into the (i) biogeochemical consequences of urban soil

6

disturbance, and (ii) effects of urbanization on public health are of critical importance. In this research, possible changes in soil biogeochemistry, and water quality which can affect the expansion of urban mosquitoes were studied through (i) field controlled study, (ii) field chronosequence study, and (iii) laboratory microcosm study. The primary objectives of this study are to gain insight into:

- Changes in soil carbon and nitrogen storage and dynamics beneath impervious surfaces.
- 2. Changes in physical properties such as temperature, and moisture over time.
- 3. Effects on biological properties such as microbial biomass, nitrogen mineralization, and nitrification beneath impervious surfaces over time.
- 4. Influences on the survival rate of *Culex quinquefasciatus* in containers using turfgrass (*ryegrass*) and abscised leaves from three common tree species in the southeastern United States including sweetgum (*Liquidambar styraciflua* L.), water oak (*Quercus nigra* L.), and loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) as carbon sources.
- 5. Document how the initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations in water affect the survival rate of mosquitoes. Elevated levels of these nutrients are common pollutants associated with urban streams in the southeastern United States.

References Cited

Allan, B.F., Langerhans, R.B., Ryberg, W.A., Landesman, W.J., Griffin, N.W., Katz, R.S., Oberle, B.J., Schutzenhofer, M.R., Smyth, K.N., de St. Maurice, A., Clark, L., Crooks, K.R., Hernandez, D.E., McLean, R.G., Ostfeld, R.S., Chase, J.M., 2009. Ecological correlates of risk and incidence of West Nile virus in the United States. Oecologia 158, 699–708. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1169-9 Attar, N., 2016. ZIKA virus circulates in new regions. Nat Rev Micro 14, 62–62.

- Barrera, R., Amador, M., Clark, G.G., 2006. Ecological factors influencing Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) productivity in artificial containers in Salinas, Puerto Rico. J. Med. Entomol. 43, 484–492. doi:10.1093/jmedent/43.3.484
- Benelli, G., Mehlhorn, H., 2016. Declining malaria, rising of dengue and Zika virus: insights for mosquito vector control. Parasitol. Res. 115, 1747–1745. doi:10.1007/s00436-016-4971-z
- Benelli, G., Murugan, K., Panneerselvam, C., Madhiyazhagan, P., Conti, B., Nicoletti, M., 2015. Old ingredients for a new recipe? Neem cake, a low-cost botanical byproduct in the fight against mosquito-borne diseases. Parasitol. Res. 114, 391– 397. doi:10.1007/s00436-014-4286-x
- Berman, Tom, Chava, Sara, 1999. Algal growth on organic compounds as nitrogen sources. J. Plankton Res. 21, 1423–1437. doi:10.1093/plankt/21.8.1423
- Beyer, L., Blume, H.-P., Elsner, D.-C., 1995. Soil organic matter composition and microbial activity in urban soils. Sci. Total Environ. 168, 267–278. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04704-5
- Bottomley, P.S., Angle, J.S., Weaver, R.W., Hart, S.C., Stark, J.M., Davidson, E.A., Firestone, M.K., 1994. Nitrogen Mineralization, Immobilization, and Nitrification, in: SSSA Book Series. Soil Science Society of America.
- Brown, H.E., Childs, J.E., Diuk-Wasser, M.A., Fish, D., 2008. Ecologic Factors Associated with West Nile Virus Transmission, Northeastern United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 14, 1539–1545. doi:10.3201/eid1410.071396
- Byrne, L.B., 2007. Habitat structure: A fundamental concept and framework for urban soil ecology. Urban Ecosyst. 10, 255–274. doi:10.1007/s11252-007-0027-6
- Cannell, M.G.R., Milne, R., Hargreaves, K.J., Brown, T. a. W., Cruickshank, M.M., Bradley, R.I., Spencer, T., Hope, D., Billett, M.F., Adger, W.N., Subak, S., 1999. National Inventories of Terrestrial Carbon Sources and Sinks: The U.K. Experience. Clim. Change 42, 505–530. doi:10.1023/A:1005425807434
- Chow, A.T., Dai, J., Conner, W.H., Hitchcock, D.R., Wang, J.-J., 2012. Dissolved organic matter and nutrient dynamics of a coastal freshwater forested wetland in Winyah Bay, South Carolina. Biogeochemistry 112, 571–587. doi:10.1007/s10533-012-9750-z
- Churkina, G., Brown, D.G., Keoleian, G., 2010. Carbon stored in human settlements: the conterminous United States: CARBON IN HUMAN SETTLEMENTS. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 135–143. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02002.x

- Coxe, S., West, S.G., Aiken, L.S., 2009. The Analysis of Count Data: A Gentle Introduction to Poisson Regression and Its Alternatives. J. Pers. Assess. 91, 121– 136. doi:10.1080/00223890802634175
- Devau, N., Cadre, E.L., Hinsinger, P., Jaillard, B., Gérard, F., 2009. Soil pH controls the environmental availability of phosphorus: Experimental and mechanistic modelling approaches. Appl. Geochem. 24, 2163–2174. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2009.09.020
- Dowling, Z., Armbruster, P., LaDeau, S.L., DeCotiis, M., Mottley, J., Leisnham, P.T., 2013. Linking Mosquito Infestation to Resident Socioeconomic Status, Knowledge, and Source Reduction Practices in Suburban Washington, DC. EcoHealth 10, 36–47. doi:10.1007/s10393-013-0818-6
- Edmondson, J.L., Davies, Z.G., McHugh, N., Gaston, K.J., Leake, J.R., 2012. Organic carbon hidden in urban ecosystems. Sci. Rep. 2. doi:10.1038/srep00963
- Elvidge, C.D., Milesi, C., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Nemani, R., Vogelmann, J.E., 2004. US constructed area approaches the size of Ohio. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 85, 233–233.
- Elvidge, C.D., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Baugh, K.E., Howard, A.T., Milesi, C., Bhaduri, B., Nemani, R., 2007. Global distribution and density of constructed impervious surfaces. Sensors 7, 1962–1979.
- Enloe, H.A., Lockaby, B.G., Zipperer, W.C., Somers, G.L., 2015. Urbanization effects on soil nitrogen transformations and microbial biomass in the subtropics. Urban Ecosyst. 18, 963–976. doi:10.1007/s11252-015-0462-8
- Ezenwa, V.O., Godsey, M.S., King, R.J., Guptill, S.C., 2006. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 109–117. doi:10.1098/rspb.2005.3284
- Fanin, N., Hättenschwiler, S., Fromin, N., 2014. Litter fingerprint on microbial biomass, activity, and community structure in the underlying soil. Plant Soil 379, 79–91. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2051-7
- Ge, C., Xue, D., Yao, H., 2010. Microbial Biomass, Community Diversity, and Enzyme Activities in Response to Urea Application in Tea Orchard Soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41, 797–810. doi:10.1080/00103621003592325
- Golubiewski, N.E., 2006. Urbanization increases grassland carbon pools: Effects of landscaping in Colorado's front range. Ecol. Appl. 16, 555–571.

- Groffman, M.P., Bohlen, J.P., Fisk, C.M., Fahey, J.T., 2004. Exotic Earthworm Invasion and Microbial Biomass in Temperate Forest Soils. Ecosystems 7, 45–54. doi:10.1007/s10021-003-0129-9
- Harris, M.M., Safford, L.O., 1996. EFFECTS OF SEASON AND FOUR TREE SPECIES ON SOLUBLE CARBON CONTENT IN FRESH AND DECOMPOSING LITTER OF TEMPERATE FORESTS1. Soil Sci. 161, 130– 135. doi:10.1097/00010694-199602000-00008
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014a. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014b. Influence of aboveground tree biomass, home age, and yard maintenance on soil carbon levels in residential yards. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 787–805. doi:10.1007/s11252-014-0350-7
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2013. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2016. Spatial analysis of aquifer response times for radial flow processes: Nondimensional analysis and laboratory-scale tests. J. Hydrol. 532, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.11.024
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2014. An analytical framework for quantifying aquifer response time scales associated with transient boundary conditions. J. Hydrol. 519, Part B, 1642–1648. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.09.018
- Jeffries, C.L., Walker, T., 2016. Wolbachia Biocontrol Strategies for Arboviral Diseases and the Potential Influence of Resident Wolbachia Strains in Mosquitoes. Curr. Trop. Med. Rep. 3, 20–25. doi:10.1007/s40475-016-0066-2
- Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2000. The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10, 423–436. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0423:TVDOSO]2.0.CO;2
- Johnson, N.F., Borror, D.J., 2005. Borror and DeLong's Introduction to the Study of Insects. Thompson Brooks/Cole.
- Johnson, P.C.D., Barry, S.J.E., Ferguson, H.M., Müller, P., 2015. Power analysis for generalized linear mixed models in ecology and evolution. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 133–142. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12306
- Jones, J.B., 1998. Soil test methods: Past, present, and future use of soil extractants. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 29, 1543–1552. doi:10.1080/00103629809370048

- Kaufman, M.G., Goodfriend, W., KohlerGarrigan, A., Walker, E.D., Klug, M.J., 2002. Soluble nutrient effects on microbial communities and mosquito production in Ochlerotatus triseriatus habitats. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 29, 73–88. doi:10.3354/ame029073
- Kaye, J., Groffman, P., Grimm, N., Baker, L., Pouyat, R., 2006. A distinct urban biogeochemistry? Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 192–199. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.12.006
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Randolph, S.E., 2012. Drivers, dynamics, and control of emerging vector-borne zoonotic diseases. The Lancet 380, 1946–1955.
- Kissel, D.E., Sonon, L., Vendrell, P.F., Isaac, R.A., 2009. Salt Concentration and Measurement of Soil pH. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 40, 179–187. doi:10.1080/00103620802625377
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. science 304, 1623–1627.
- Lehmann, A., Stahr, K., 2007. Nature and significance of anthropogenic urban soils. J. Soils Sediments 7, 247–260. doi:10.1065/jss2007.06.235
- Lorenz, K., Lal, R., 2009. Biogeochemical C and N cycles in urban soils. Environ. Int. 35, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2008.05.006
- Mafongoya, P.L., Barak, P., Reed, J.D., 2000. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralization of tree leaves and manure. Biol. Fertil. Soils 30, 298–305. doi:10.1007/s003740050007
- Majidzadeh, H., Wang, J.-J., Chow, A.T., 2015. Prescribed Fire Alters Dissolved Organic Matter and Disinfection By-Product Precursors in Forested Watersheds - Part I. A Controlled Laboratory Study, in: Recent Advances in Disinfection By-Products, ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 271–292.
- Maleknejad, R., Sudagar, M., Azimi, A., 2014. Effect of Different Live Foods Source (Culex Larvae, Chironomus Larvae and Artemia) on Pigmentation of Electric Yellow (Labidochromis Caeruleus). Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res. 2, 1287– 1295.
- Maria, V.D., Rahman, M., Collins, P., Dondi, G., Sangiorgi, C., 2013. Urban Heat Island Effect: Thermal Response from Different Types of Exposed Paved Surfaces. Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol. 6, 414–422. doi:10.6135/ijprt.org.tw/2013.6(4).414
- Martinez, N.G., Bettez, N.D., Groffman, P.M., 2014. Sources of variation in home lawn soil nitrogen dynamics. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 2146–2151. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.03.0103

- Menon, S., Denman, K.L., Brasseur, G., Chidthaisong, A., Ciais, P., Cox, P.M., Dickinson, R.E., Hauglustaine, D., Heinze, C., Holland, E., Jacob, D., Lohmann, U., Ramachandran, S., Leite da Silva Dias, P., Wofsy, S.C., Zhang, X., 2007. Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry (No. LBNL-464E). Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA (US).
- Milesi, C., Elvidge, C.D., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W., 2003. Assessing the impact of urban land development on net primary productivity in the southeastern United States. Remote Sens. Environ. 86, 401–410. doi:10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00081-6
- Milesi, C., Running, S.W., Elvidge, C.D., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Nemani, R.R., 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turf grasses in the United States. Environ. Manage. 36, 426–438. doi:10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2
- Miller, J.H., Robinson, K.S.;, 1995. A regional perspective of the physiographic provinces of the southeastern United States. pp. 1–3.
- Montague, T., Kjelgren, R., 2004. Energy balance of six common landscape surfaces and the influence of surface properties on gas exchange of four containerized tree species. Sci. Hortic. 100, 229–249. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2003.08.010
- Noori, N., Lockaby, B.G., Kalin, L., 2015. Larval Development of Culex quinquefasciatus in Water with Low to Moderate Pollution Levels. J. Vector Ecol. 40, 208–220. doi:10.1111/jvec.12156
- Norris, D.E., 2004. Mosquito-borne Diseases as a Consequence of Land Use Change. EcoHealth 1, 19–24. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0008-7
- Pataki, D.E., Alig, R.J., Fung, A.S., Golubiewski, N.E., Kennedy, C.A., Mcpherson, E.G., Nowak, D.J., Pouyat, R.V., Romero Lankao, P., 2006. Urban ecosystems and the North American carbon cycle. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 2092–2102. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01242.x
- Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS, 2013. West nile virus: Review of the literature. JAMA 310, 308–315. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.8042
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Golubiewski, N.E., 2009. A comparison of soil organic carbon stocks between residential turf grass and native soil. Urban Ecosyst. 12, 45–62. doi:10.1007/s11252-008-0059-6
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006a. Carbon storage by urban soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566–1575.
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006b. Carbon Storage by Urban Soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0215

- Qian, Y., Follett, R.F., 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long-term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94, 930–935.
- Raciti, S.M., Groffman, P.M., Fahey, T.J., 2008. Nitrogen retention in urban lawns and forests. Ecol. Appl. Publ. Ecol. Soc. Am. 18, 1615–1626. doi:10.1890/07-1062.1
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012a. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012b. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Rao, P., Hutyra, L.R., Raciti, S.M., Finzi, A.C., 2013. Field and remotely sensed measures of soil and vegetation carbon and nitrogen across an urbanization gradient in the Boston metropolitan area. Urban Ecosyst. 16, 593–616. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0291-6
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009a. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009b. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Schaldach, R., Alcamo, J., 2007. Simulating the effects of urbanization, afforestation and cropland abandonment on a regional carbon balance: a case study for Central Germany. Reg. Environ. Change 7, 137–148. doi:10.1007/s10113-007-0034-4
- Scharenbroch, B.C., Lloyd, J.E., Johnson-Maynard, J.L., 2005. Distinguishing urban soils with physical, chemical, and biological properties. Pedobiologia 49, 283–296. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2004.12.002
- Schoonover, J.E., Lockaby, B.G., 2006. Land cover impacts on stream nutrients and fecal coliform in the lower Piedmont of West Georgia. J. Hydrol. 331, 371–382. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.05.031
- Selhorst, A.L., Lal, R., 2011. Carbon budgeting in golf course soils of Central Ohio. Urban Ecosyst. 14, 771–781. doi:10.1007/s11252-011-0168-5
- Shuster, W.D., Bonta, J., Thurston, H., Warnemuende, E., Smith, D.R., 2005. Impacts of impervious surface on watershed hydrology: A review. Urban Water J. 2, 263– 275. doi:10.1080/15730620500386529

Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 2004. Survey Laboratory Methods Manual.

- Soldat, D.J., Petrovic, A.M., 2008. The Fate and Transport of Phosphorus in Turfgrass Ecosystems. Crop Sci. 48, 2051. doi:10.2135/cropsci2008.03.0134
- Sollins, P., Homann, P., Caldwell, B.A., 1996. Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74, 65–105. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(96)00036-5
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M.A., Crawford, J.W., Field, D.J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Courcelles, V. de R. de, Singh, K., Wheeler, I., Abbott, L., Angers, D.A., Baldock, J., Bird, M., Brookes, P.C., Chenu, C., Jastrow, J.D., Lal, R., Lehmann, J., O'Donnell, A.G., Parton, W.J., Whitehead, D., Zimmermann, M., 2013. The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 164, 80–99. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001
- Takebayashi, H., Moriyama, M., 2007. Surface heat budget on green roof and high reflection roof for mitigation of urban heat island. Build. Environ. 42, 2971–2979. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.06.017
- Tomlinson, R.W., Milne, R.M., 2006. Soil carbon stocks and land cover in Northern Ireland from 1939 to 2000. Appl. Geogr. 26, 18–39. doi:10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.10.001
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2014. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision : highlights.
- Urban, M.C., Skelly, D.K., Burchsted, D., Price, W., Lowry, S., 2006. Stream communities across a rural-urban landscape gradient. Divers. Htmlent Glyphamp Asciiamp Distrib. 12, 337–350. doi:10.1111/j.1366-9516.2005.00226.x
- U.S. Census Bureau, 2013. American Housing Survey (AHS) [WWW Document]. URL http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/ahs.html (accessed 6.19.16).
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils: The use of the chloroform fumigation-incubation method in strongly acid soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 19, 697–702. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90051-4
- Wang, J.-J., Dahlgren, R.A., Erşan, M.S., Karanfil, T., Chow, A.T., 2015. Wildfire Altering Terrestrial Precursors of Disinfection Byproducts in Forest Detritus. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 5921–5929. doi:10.1021/es505836m
- Wang, Y., Zhang, D., Shen, Z., Feng, C., Chen, J., 2013. Revealing Sources and Distribution Changes of Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) in Pore Water of Sediment from the Yangtze Estuary. PLOS ONE 8, e76633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076633

- Wardle, D.A., 1992. A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. Biol. Rev. 67, 321–358.
- Wei, Z., 2014. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLoS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Lin, C., 2013. Installation of impervious surface in urban areas affects microbial biomass, activity (potential C mineralisation), and functional diversity of the fine earth. Soil Res. 51, 59. doi:10.1071/SR12089
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Yan, X., Zhou, S., 2014a. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLOS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014b. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- Wei, Z.-Q., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- West, T.O., Six, J., 2007. Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Clim. Change 80, 25–41. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8
- Wu, X., Hu, D., Ma, S., Zhang, X., Guo, Z., Gaston, K.J., 2016. Elevated soil CO2 efflux at the boundaries between impervious surfaces and urban greenspaces. Atmos. Environ. 141, 375–378. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.06.050
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015a. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015b. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Zhao, D., Li, F., Wang, R., Yang, Q., Ni, H., 2012. Effect of soil sealing on the microbial biomass, N transformation and related enzyme activities at various depths of soils in urban area of Beijing, China. J. Soils Sediments 12, 519–530. doi:10.1007/s11368-012-0472-6

Chapter2: Soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics beneath urban impervious surfaces: A field controlled study

Abstract

Soil sealing by impervious surfaces such as buildings, roads, sidewalks, and parking lots are some of the most extreme disturbances caused by urbanization. Previous studies have reported dramatic changes in soil properties, and in particular carbon and nitrogen content due to the installation of impervious surfaces. However, it is not clear if these changes are solely the result of initial disturbance and top soil removal, or if soil sealing alters soil properties over time by limiting the inputs of organic matter, water, and gas exchange. Moreover, the effects of different impervious surfaces (i.e. concrete slabs vs. homes) on soil biogeochemical properties have not been investigated. To address these knowledge gaps and to understand if the soil beneath impervious surfaces is acting as a sink or source of carbon and nitrogen, monitoring the changes in soil properties immediately after soil sealing is necessary. Here, a field controlled study was conducted consisting of three different treatments. Treatments consisted of concrete slabs, mock-up of houses built on a crawl space and grassed (reference) plots. Soil physical, chemical, and biological properties were monitored beneath these impervious surfaces for 15 months at depth 0-10 cm (layer one) and 10-20 cm (layer two).

Soil carbon content decreased by 48.39 % (\pm 16.29 %) and 56.99 % (\pm 8.59 %) beneath the concrete and homes respectively compared to reference plots at top 10 cm.

Temporally, soil carbon content decreased by 0.04 kg m⁻² and 0.02 kg m⁻² per month beneath the concrete plots at layer one and two respectively. Soil nitrogen, microbial biomass, and net nitrogen mineralization rates were significantly lower beneath impervious surfaces compared to reference plots. Other parameters that affecting soil carbon and nitrogen dynamic such as soil volumetric water content, temperature, pH, as well as nitrate, ammonium, Ca and K content were monitored over the experimental period.

Introduction

Urbanization alters soil physical and chemical properties including soil carbon storage and sequestration rate (Pouyat et al., 2006; Scharenbroch et al., 2005). To evaluate the effects of urbanization on the ecosystem, and the global carbon cycle, it is of great importance to quantify these changes in various urban land uses and land covers (Lal, 2004; Yan et al., 2015). Soil sealing by impervious surfaces such as buildings, roads, sidewalks, and parking lots is one of the most extreme disturbances caused by urbanization. It affects soil physical and chemical properties by limiting water and gas exchange and restricting the input of organic matter (Jazaei et al., 2014; Lorenz and Lal, 2009; Montague and Kjelgren, 2004). Moreover, the construction process usually involves compaction and removal of top soil which is rich in organic matter (Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009; Yan et al., 2015). Impervious surfaces cover more than one-third of urban areas in the United States exceeding 130,000 km² (Churkina et al., 2010; Elvidge et al., 2004; Wu et al., 2016). Despite the importance and magnitude of changes caused by the impervious surfaces, there have been only a few studies in which the soil beneath impervious surfaces were sampled (Raciti et al., 2012; Wei, 2014; Yan et al.,

2015). These studies have reported 68 % to 75 % decrease in soil carbon underneath sidewalks, residential pavements, and residential driveways compared to open areas. A significant decline in soil nitrogen (Raciti et al., 2012; Z. Wei et al., 2014), and microbial activity (Z.-Q. Wei et al., 2014) also have been reported. However, it is not clear if these changes are a result of top soil removal and the initial disturbance or long-term soil sealing that alters soil properties over time. The true gain or loss of carbon beneath these surfaces over time following the disturbance has not been investigated. As yet, there are no reports stating whether soil beneath impervious surfaces becomes biologically inactive, or if the soil acts as a sink or source of carbon following disturbance and sealing. The soil beneath impervious surfaces has a very limited input of organic matter through leaching, roots, and insects (Lehmann and Stahr, 2007; Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009). The outputs of carbon are also limited in these systems because of a decrease in oxygen levels, microbial activity, and leaching (Wei et al., 2013). Moreover, various types and sizes of impervious surfaces may have different effects on soil properties. Yan et. al (2015) showed that the size of impervious surfaces would affect the soil properties and that soil carbon decreases horizontally from the edge of the pavement to the center. However, they did not demonstrate whether impervious surfaces type (i.e. homes vs. concrete slabs) would have the same effects on soil properties.

Homes and concrete slabs are two major types of impervious surfaces. Homes cover more than 20% of impervious surfaces in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013). Multi-unit homes and tall building construction involve intensive disturbance as well as major topsoil removal and is assumed to have zero carbon storage (Yan et al., 2015). However, only 23% of the homes in the United States are multi units. More than 53% of the houses in the United States are manufactured homes (6%), homes built on crawl space (16%) and home built with basement (31%) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013).

To elucidate how soil sealing alters soil physical and biological properties, a field controlled study consisting of three different treatments were conducted. Treatments included concrete slabs (concrete plots), mock-up of houses built on a crawl space (home plots), and grassed (reference) plots. Soil physical, chemical, and biological properties were monitored beneath these surfaces for 15 months. The objectives of this study were to (i) monitor changes in physical properties such as temperature, and moisture over time; (ii) evaluate changes in soil carbon and nitrogen storage and dynamics beneath impervious surfaces; (iii) quantify biological properties such as microbial biomass, nitrogen mineralization, and nitrification beneath impervious surfaces over time.

Material and methods

The site was constructed near Auburn, AL (latitude 32.60° N longitude 85.48° W) which is located on the fall line between the Coastal Plain and the Piedmont Plateau with a mean annual air temperature of 17.4 °C and mean annual precipitation of 1337 mm. The research site was built on an unfertilized Piedmont meadow covered with grasses and shrubs. The soil on the site was classified as fine, kaolinitic, thermic Rhodic Kanhapludults. Treatments were built on 5 m × 5 m plots and replicated four times based on randomized complete block design (RCBD), totaling twelve plots (Figure 2.1). There was a four-meter buffer zone between treatments to prevent increased runoff from adjoining treatment having any effect. Vegetation and the top 10 cm of soil were removed for construction of concrete slab, and home plots. The soil was compacted by tamping prior to the installation of a concrete slab. There were 18 blocks in the middle of each concrete slab that could be opened for sampling (Figure 2.1b). The cracks between blocks were sealed after each sampling. All twelve plots were sampled (cores of 5 cm) before treatment installation at three depths: 0-10 cm, 10-20 cm, and 20-30 cm. Following treatment installation, samples were collected at 0, 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 13, and 15 months. The reference plots were sampled at three depths (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm, and 20-30 cm) while the soil beneath impervious surfaces were sampled only at two depths since the first 10 cm was removed during the construction process. The first 10 cm beneath impervious surfaces was called as layer one and the second 10 cm was named layer two.

Soil temperature and volumetric water content were measured every 15 minutes at a depth 10 cm and 20 cm for all treatments using HOBO TidbiT temperature probes (Part UTBI-001, Onset Corp., Pocasset, MA) and EC-5 soil moisture probes (Onset Computer, Bourne, MA) respectively. An automated LabFit AS-3000 pH analyzer was used to measure pH of air-dried soil samples in a 0.01 molar solution of calcium chloride. This method provides more stable results between seasons compared to the 1:1 mixture of soil: water method (Kissel et al., 2009). The measured values were converted to 1:1 mixture of soil: water values by adding a conversion factor of 0.6. The Mehlich-1 method (Jones, 1998) was used to quantify concentrations of extractable P, Ca, and K using inductively coupled plasma spectrograph (ICAP61E, Madison, WI). Total C and N were measured using Perkin-Elmer 2400 Series II CHNS/O analyzer (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA).

The chloroform-fumigation method was used for measuring soil microbial biomass carbon (Vance et al., 1987). Soil samples were homogenized by sieving through a 2 mm mesh sieve and dividing into two sets of 18.5 g. The first set was fumigated by exposing soil to alcohol-free chloroform for 24 hours. Fumigated and unfumigated samples were extracted with 100 mL 0.5 mol L-1 K₂SO₄ for 30 minutes. The extracts were filtered (Whatman no. 42 filters) and then frozen. After thawing, the samples were analyzed for organic C and total N using a Shimadzu TOC-V and total N combustion analyzer (Shimadzu Scientific Instruments, Columbia, MD). The differences between fumigated and unfumigated samples represent microbial C and N.

Net N mineralization was measured using the in situ bag method (Bottomley et al., 1994). The soil sample (from layer 1) were split into two approximately 500 mL polyethylene whirl pack bags (Nasco, Fort Atkinson, WI). Polyethylene bags permit the gas exchange while it prevents water entering the bags. One bag was immediately reburied and incubated for approximately 28 days, and the other bag brought back to the laboratory. Post-incubation samples and pre-incubation samples were processed for ammonium and nitrate. Processing consisted of passing the soil through a 2 mm sieve and then extracting 10 g of the < 2mm field moist soil in 100 mL of 2 mol L⁻¹ KCl. The extracted KCl solutions were filtered and then frozen. Extracts were analyzed using standard colorimetric techniques, with the developed color analyzed using a microplate reader (Sims et al., 1995).

Statistical analysis

"R" software, version 3.1.2 was used for all statistical analysis in this study. A linear mixed-effects model (the nlme package of "R" software) with repeated measures of soil properties and block as the random effect was utilized to compare soil properties (i.e. soil C, N, microbial biomass C, nitrate, net nitrogen mineralization rates) between the treatments. The Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) following an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was used to differentiate the means (Agricola package, $\alpha = 0.05$). There was an interaction between depths and treatments (lawns, homes, concrete), thus instead of a two-way ANOVA, soil properties beneath impervious surfaces were studied at two separate depths (0-10 cm, and 10-20 cm).

Results

Soil volumetric water and temperature

Soil volumetric water content in reference plot was significantly lower (*p*-value < 0.01) in the warm periods (May-October, average temperature = $21.54^{\circ}C \pm 1.66^{\circ}C$) than in the colder periods (November-April, average temperature = $8.32^{\circ}C \pm 4.54^{\circ}C$). In cold periods, soil water at layer one followed the order of reference \approx concrete > home treatments (Figure 2.2a). In the warm period, soil water beneath the concrete plots declined less than the reference and home plots probably due to limited evaporation. Thus, the soil water content was significantly higher beneath the concrete plots compared to reference and home plots at layer one in the warm period of the year (*p*-value <0.01, Figure 2.2a). The soil water at layer two was higher beneath the homes than two other treatments in both warm and cold periods (*p*-value < 0.001). There was no significant difference between concrete and reference plots during the cold period of the year in this layer. However, in the warm period, soil water content was higher beneath the concrete plots compared to reference plots in layer two (*p*-value < 0.001).

The soil temperature at depth 10 cm was on average 2 °C higher beneath the concrete plots compared to the reference and home plots during warm periods of the year, although this difference was not statistically different probably due to high variation in reference plots temperature (Table 1). In cold periods of the year, soil temperature was very similar for all treatments at both depths. Higher temperature beneath concrete plots is probably due to solar energy absorption of the concrete during the day. This heat will be stored within the concrete and during the night can be released to the soil and atmosphere (Maria et al., 2013).

Soil carbon and nitrogen

The mean soil carbon in layer one, over the experiment period was not significantly different beneath the concrete slab $(2.31 \pm 040 \text{ kg m}^{-2})$ and homes $(1.75 \pm 0.19 \text{ kg m}^{-2})$, which were 48.39 % (± 16.29 %) and 56.99 % (± 8.59 %) lower than reference plot at depth 0-10 cm, respectively. Considering the top soil removal, the soil carbon in layer one beneath these two impervious surfaces was not significantly different from that of at depth 10-20 cm in reference plots (Figure 2.3a). The construction process (month 0) which involved removing the top 10 cm of soil resulted in 44.00 % (± 16.16 %) and 51.52 % (± 10.71 %) decrease in carbon content beneath concrete and home plots, respectively. The initial disturbance and top soil removal were the primary cause of

depletion in carbon content. However, the maximum carbon loss in layer one reached 56.06 % and 65.01 %, at the end of the experimental period (February 2016) beneath the concrete and homes respectively (Figure 2.3a). Soil carbon decreased with depth in all treatments. In layer two, the soil carbon beneath the homes $(1.14 \pm 0.21 \text{ kg m}^{-2})$ was higher than that beneath the concrete $(0.93 \pm 0.23 \text{ kg m}^{-2}, p$ -value = 0.01) and both were significantly lower than soil carbon in reference plots at depth 10-20 cm (1.98 ± 0.42 kg m⁻², *p*-value < 0.001) but similar to that at depth 20-30 cm (Figure 2.3b).

Soil carbon beneath the concrete plots decreased 0.04 kg m⁻² (\pm 0.01, *p*-value= 0.001) and 0.02 kg m⁻² (\pm 0.005, *p*-value< 0.001) per month at layer one and two respectively. The soil carbon beneath the homes and in reference plots did not show a trend. The soil carbon beneath the homes peaked in November (both 2014 and 2015) at layers one and two, while the soil carbon in reference plots reached its maximum in February in the top 10 cm, and did not change over time at depth 10-20 cm. Soil carbon beneath the homes had a positive correlation with soil volumetric water content, and for each one percent increase in soil water content, a 0.23 kg m⁻² (\pm 0.008 kg m⁻², *p*-value = 0.01) increase in soil carbon was observed. However, for reference and concrete plots no significant relation between soil water and carbon content was detected.

Soil total nitrogen content at layer one beneath the concrete and homes were on average 42.43 % (\pm 16.90 %) and 53 % (\pm 13.40 %) lower than that in the reference plots at depth 0-10 cm respectively (*p*-value < 0.001) (Figure 2.3c). The maximum decrease in nitrogen was observed in February with 71.18 % decrease beneath the homes and 77.4 % decrease beneath the concrete plots. At layer two, soil total nitrogen decreased by 60.8 % (\pm 17.38

%) beneath the concrete and 50.4 % (\pm 12.9 %) beneath homes compared to reference plots at depth 10-20 cm. There was no statistical difference in soil nitrogen content beneath the homes and concrete plots at both layers.

The construction process resulted in 46.24 % (\pm 11.89 %) and 58.41 % (\pm 3.82 %) decreases in soil N beneath concrete and homes, respectively. Following that, the soil N decreased beneath the concrete slabs over time in both layers. In layer one, the soil N decreased 4.53 g m⁻² (\pm 1.71, *p*-value= 0.01), while in layer two, it decreased 2.63 g m⁻² (\pm 0.99, *p*-value= 0.01) for each month of soil sealing. The soil N in reference plots and beneath the homes were fluctuating seasonally (Figure 2.3c, d).

The average soil C: N at layer one was not statistically different between treatments at layer one. However, at layer two it was higher beneath the homes (31.15 ± 5.63) compared to the reference (19.89 ± 3.98) and the concrete plots $(18.25 \pm 5.90, p$ -value = 0.03).

Soil Microbial Biomass

The soil microbial biomass (C_{mic}) at month 0 was surprisingly high beneath concrete plots which may be due to extra moisture provided with the wet concrete. However, after a month the C_{mic} significantly decreased due to the lack of carbon source and the C_{mic} did not significantly change over time beneath the concrete plots. The C_{mic} had seasonal variation in reference and home plots and did not show a significant relation with time although it was significantly higher in reference plots at both depths (Figure 2.4a, b). The C_{mic} decreased with depth for all treatments (*p*-value < 0.001) and had the same pattern as
layer one. Microbial biomass carbon was significantly correlated with soil volumetric water content and increased 34.99 μ g g⁻¹ (±17.39 μ g g⁻¹, *p*-value = 0.04), for each one percent increase in soil water at layer one.

The C_{mic} : C ratio is an indicator of readily metabolized carbon (Beyer et al., 1995). The mean C_{mic} : C ratio during the experiment was significantly higher beneath the homes (3.5%) compared to reference (2.6% ± 0.48%, *p*-value = 0.06) and concrete plots (2.1% ± 0.48%, *p*-value = 0.004) at layer one. However, there was no significant difference in the C_{mic} : C ratio between different treatments at layer two.

Net nitrogen mineralization

The mean soil nitrogen mineralization rates during the experiment at layer one followed the order of reference $(29.23 \pm 10.03 \text{ mg N m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1}) \approx \text{concrete} (14.86 \pm 10.12 \text{ mg N m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1}) > \text{home} (2.33 \pm 10.12 \text{ mg N m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1})$, Figure 2.5a). The warm period of the year (March to July, average temperature = 21.69 °C) had significantly higher (*p*-value < 0.001) net nitrogen mineralization rates than the cold periods of the year (October to January, average temperature = 9.68 °C). Net ammonium production beneath the concrete slabs and homes were close to zero or negative during the experimental period with an average of -5.88 (± 5.42), and – 8.73 (± 5.33) mg N m⁻², respectively. Thus, the net N mineralization rates were primarily related to nitrification especially beneath impervious surfaces.

Soil nitrate contents at the top 10 cm differed significantly among all treatments and followed the order of concrete >> crawl space > reference treatments (Figure 2.5b).

Initial soil nitrate contents decreased with depth in reference and homes plots (*p*-value < 0.01), however, there was no correlation between depth and nitrate contents beneath the concrete plots. Moreover, the nitrate content increased 95.39 mg N m⁻² (\pm 46.16. p-value = 0.05) and 93.97 mg N m⁻² (\pm 18.62, *p*-value < 0.001) per month beneath the concrete and home plots respectively. However, the nitrate content in reference plots did not change significantly over time. In contrast to soil nitrate, soil ammonium content was higher beneath the homes compared to concrete slabs and decreased by 24.16 mg N m⁻² (\pm 8.42. *p*-value = 0.008) beneath the homes and 24.11 mg N m⁻² (\pm 9.01, *p*-value = 0.01) per month beneath the concrete plots (Figure 2.5c). There was no relation between time and initial ammonium content in reference plots.

Other soil physiochemical properties

Mean soil pH over the experimental period increased beneath the impervious surfaces and was followed the order of concrete $(6.13 \pm 0.40) \approx$ homes $(6.05 \pm 0.35) >$ reference (5.68 ± 0.15) at layer one (*p*-value < 0.001). The soil pH increased 0.088 (± 0.016) per month beneath the concrete slabs and 0.028 (± 0.008) per month beneath the homes. However, the soil pH in reference plots did not change significantly over time. Soil pH decreased with depth in all treatments and had the similar pattern as layer one. Soil potassium (K) concentration was significantly higher beneath the concrete slabs compared to reference and homes treatments at layer one (*p*-value < 0.001). Moreover, for each month, soil K increased 23.10 mg kg⁻¹ (±4.40, *p*-value< 0.001) beneath the concrete slabs while it had no significant change over time in the other treatments. Potassium accumulation beneath concrete slabs was only observed in layer one, and in layer two it was similar to that in reference plots. Soil calcium (Ca) concentrations in reference plots at top 10 cm was significantly higher than that beneath the impervious surfaces (*p*-value<0.001). The soil beneath the concrete slabs had higher Ca concentrations compared to the home treatment (*p*-value = 0.02). There was no significant difference in Ca concentrations at layer two. The soil phosphorous (P) content was not statistically different among the treatments. However, soil P concentrations increased beneath the homes by 0.12 mg kg⁻¹ per month (\pm 0.06, *p*-value = 0.05), while there was no significant relation between time and soil P in other treatments.

Discussion

Top soil removal was the primary cause of the decrease in soil carbon and nitrogen content beneath impervious surfaces. Moreover, the decrease in carbon sequestration rates or decrease in carbon content over time can increase the difference between open soils and soil beneath impervious surfaces. Removal of the top 10 cm of soil resulted in $44.00 \% (\pm 16.16 \%)$ and $51.52 \% (\pm 10.71 \%)$ decrease in carbon content beneath concrete slabs and homes, respectively. Majidzadeh et al. (2016) studied the soil carbon beneath the homes built on crawl spaces that ranged from 11 to 114 years in age and reported $61.86 \% (\pm 4.42 \%)$ decrease in carbon beneath the homes compared to adjoining urban lawns. A study in New York reported a 66% decrease in carbon beneath pavements compared to nearby open soils in the top 15 cm (Raciti et al., 2012). A similar study in China reported a 68% carbon depletion in top 20 cm beneath the paved residential squares (Wei et al., 2013). The highest carbon loss beneath impervious surfaces is reported by (Yan et al., 2015), who noted a 75% decrease in carbon content in

the top 10 cm. However, this study was in a dry region which limited the input of organic matter beneath impervious surfaces. Assuming that these impervious surfaces also included removal of vegetation and at least 10 cm of soil, top soil removal is the major cause of the decrease in carbon beneath impervious surfaces. Thus, strategies to use the removed topsoil in a way that protects the soil from atmospheric loss of carbon, would be of great importance.

Soil C beneath the concrete slabs decreased over time suggesting that it is decoupled from sequestration. Soil carbon sequestration in urban lawns can range from 0.026 kg m⁻² (Huyler et al., 2014) to 0.355 kg m⁻² (Selhorst and Lal, 2011) based on the irrigation, management, grass type, and region (Huyler et al., 2014; Pouyat et al., 2009; Qian and Follett, 2002). Soil carbon content beneath the homes and concrete slabs was not significantly different at layer one. However, home treatments had higher carbon at layer two, suggesting that the soil beneath the homes built on a crawl space may not be as sealed as the soil beneath the concrete slabs. This was further confirmed by higher volumetric water content beneath the homes at layer two. Similar carbon content at layer one is probably due to high carbon loss beneath the homes from oxidation since the top soil is not protected by vegetation or concrete. However, since loss through oxidation in layer two is not as pronounced, we observed higher carbon content beneath homes compared to concrete plots. This pattern further confirmed by higher C_{mic} : C ratio beneath the homes compared to the other treatments at layer one. This ratio has a positive relation with the proportion of metabolized carbon (Scharenbroch et al., 2005), thus the increase in C_{mic}: C suggests C loss over time (Beyer et al., 1995). Majidzadeh et al.

29

(2016) also found that gain and loss of C beneath the homes may reflect two different processes.

Soil N was similar beneath the concrete plots $(0.13 \pm 0.05 \text{ kg m}^{-2})$ and homes $(0.11 \pm 0.4 \text{ kg m}^{-2})$. Similar N content was expected since denitrification is a microbial process (Groffman et al., 2004) and there was no significant difference in microbial biomass beneath the home and concrete plots.

Soil microbial biomass was significantly lower beneath impervious surfaces compared to reference plots. Lower C_{mic} was expected beneath impervious surfaces considering the lack of bioavailable C and N (Wardle, 1992). Moreover, the gas and water exchange was limited by soil sealing which can reduce microbial activities (Zhao et al., 2012). However, while C_{mic} did not change over time beneath the concrete plots, it was fluctuating beneath the homes. This was probably due to limited inputs of organic carbon through infiltration which enables some microbial activity beneath the homes. This was further confirmed by a significant relation between soil volumetric water content and C_{mic} .

Soil net nitrogen mineralization rate was affected by both temperature and treatments. Although this increase was expected during the warm periods of the year, the increase beneath the concrete plots during this period was extraordinary high such that in May and July it was higher than that in reference plots. These high mineralization rates are probably due to higher soil volumetric water content beneath concrete plots during the warm periods of the year. Thus, the microbial community in warm periods of the year benefits from high temperature unless water stress occurs. Net ammonium production rates were negative, or zero beneath impervious surfaces since the input of litter and organic matter was limited. However, the soil initial ammonium content was enough to support the nitrification during the experimental period. This pattern may slow down through time since initial ammonium content would be limited. However, further studies are required. Z.-Q. Wei et al. (2014) reported that total soil mineral nitrogen (NO⁻₃ + NH⁺₄) concentration was lower beneath pavements compared to open soils. However, they did not study nitrate and ammonium separately.

The soil pH increased beneath the impervious surfaces while it had no relation with time beneath the homes. P accumulation beneath the home may be a result of the increase in soil pH. The availability of phosphorous increases from pH 6 toward acidic pH since the adsorption of P onto clay mineral decreases (Devau et al., 2009). Majidzadeh et. al (2016) also reported higher P content beneath the homes compared to urban lawns and attributed it to lower P content in urban lawns due to plant uptake. P accumulation beneath the homes was not expected considering that phosphorous rarely leaches in aerobic conditions.

In this study, the biochemical process beneath two common types of impervious surfaces was investigated. We found that the major cause of carbon loss beneath impervious surfaces was top soil removal. However, the soil C beneath the concrete plots decreased over time while it fluctuated beneath the homes. The carbon loss to atmosphere beneath the homes at top 10 cm was the major mechanism of carbon loss following the disturbance. Thus, the application of vapor barriers beneath homes may have a significant

role in preventing carbon loss. Considering these variations, assumptions regarding a constant value for soil carbon beneath impervious surfaces (Pouyat et al., 2006; Z.-Q. Wei et al., 2014) may be oversimplified. Soil microbial activities including C_{mic} was significantly decreased following the soil sealing. Thus, the net nitrogen mineralization rates decreased beneath impervious surfaces. However, accumulation of nitrate due to nitrification of soil initial ammonium was observed. As a result, soil ammonium content decreased over time beneath the impervious surfaces.

The results of this study reveal that the soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics beneath different impervious surfaces (homes built on crawl space vs. concrete in this study) are not the same, and parameters such as the type of structure, topsoil removal, depth, age, and climate would affect these dynamics.

References

- Allan, B.F., Langerhans, R.B., Ryberg, W.A., Landesman, W.J., Griffin, N.W., Katz, R.S., Oberle, B.J., Schutzenhofer, M.R., Smyth, K.N., de St. Maurice, A., Clark, L., Crooks, K.R., Hernandez, D.E., McLean, R.G., Ostfeld, R.S., Chase, J.M., 2009. Ecological correlates of risk and incidence of West Nile virus in the United States. Oecologia 158, 699–708. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1169-9
- Attar, N., 2016. ZIKA virus circulates in new regions. Nat Rev Micro 14, 62–62.
- Barrera, R., Amador, M., Clark, G.G., 2006. Ecological factors influencing Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) productivity in artificial containers in Salinas, Puerto Rico. J. Med. Entomol. 43, 484–492. doi:10.1093/jmedent/43.3.484
- Benelli, G., Mehlhorn, H., 2016. Declining malaria, rising of dengue and Zika virus: insights for mosquito vector control. Parasitol. Res. 115, 1747–1745. doi:10.1007/s00436-016-4971-z
- Benelli, G., Murugan, K., Panneerselvam, C., Madhiyazhagan, P., Conti, B., Nicoletti, M., 2015. Old ingredients for a new recipe? Neem cake, a low-cost botanical byproduct in the fight against mosquito-borne diseases. Parasitol. Res. 114, 391– 397. doi:10.1007/s00436-014-4286-x

- Berman, Tom, Chava, Sara, 1999. Algal growth on organic compounds as nitrogen sources. J. Plankton Res. 21, 1423–1437. doi:10.1093/plankt/21.8.1423
- Beyer, L., Blume, H.-P., Elsner, D.-C., 1995. Soil organic matter composition and microbial activity in urban soils. Sci. Total Environ. 168, 267–278. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04704-5
- Bottomley, P.S., Angle, J.S., Weaver, R.W., Hart, S.C., Stark, J.M., Davidson, E.A., Firestone, M.K., 1994. Nitrogen Mineralization, Immobilization, and Nitrification, in: SSSA Book Series. Soil Science Society of America.
- Brown, H.E., Childs, J.E., Diuk-Wasser, M.A., Fish, D., 2008. Ecologic Factors Associated with West Nile Virus Transmission, Northeastern United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 14, 1539–1545. doi:10.3201/eid1410.071396
- Byrne, L.B., 2007. Habitat structure: A fundamental concept and framework for urban soil ecology. Urban Ecosyst. 10, 255–274. doi:10.1007/s11252-007-0027-6
- Cannell, M.G.R., Milne, R., Hargreaves, K.J., Brown, T. a. W., Cruickshank, M.M., Bradley, R.I., Spencer, T., Hope, D., Billett, M.F., Adger, W.N., Subak, S., 1999. National Inventories of Terrestrial Carbon Sources and Sinks: The U.K. Experience. Clim. Change 42, 505–530. doi:10.1023/A:1005425807434
- Chow, A.T., Dai, J., Conner, W.H., Hitchcock, D.R., Wang, J.-J., 2012. Dissolved organic matter and nutrient dynamics of a coastal freshwater forested wetland in Winyah Bay, South Carolina. Biogeochemistry 112, 571–587. doi:10.1007/s10533-012-9750-z
- Churkina, G., Brown, D.G., Keoleian, G., 2010. Carbon stored in human settlements: the conterminous United States: CARBON IN HUMAN SETTLEMENTS. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 135–143. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02002.x
- Coxe, S., West, S.G., Aiken, L.S., 2009. The Analysis of Count Data: A Gentle Introduction to Poisson Regression and Its Alternatives. J. Pers. Assess. 91, 121– 136. doi:10.1080/00223890802634175
- Devau, N., Cadre, E.L., Hinsinger, P., Jaillard, B., Gérard, F., 2009. Soil pH controls the environmental availability of phosphorus: Experimental and mechanistic modelling approaches. Appl. Geochem. 24, 2163–2174. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2009.09.020
- Dowling, Z., Armbruster, P., LaDeau, S.L., DeCotiis, M., Mottley, J., Leisnham, P.T., 2013. Linking Mosquito Infestation to Resident Socioeconomic Status, Knowledge, and Source Reduction Practices in Suburban Washington, DC. EcoHealth 10, 36–47. doi:10.1007/s10393-013-0818-6

- Edmondson, J.L., Davies, Z.G., McHugh, N., Gaston, K.J., Leake, J.R., 2012. Organic carbon hidden in urban ecosystems. Sci. Rep. 2. doi:10.1038/srep00963
- Elvidge, C.D., Milesi, C., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Nemani, R., Vogelmann, J.E., 2004. US constructed area approaches the size of Ohio. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 85, 233–233.
- Elvidge, C.D., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Baugh, K.E., Howard, A.T., Milesi, C., Bhaduri, B., Nemani, R., 2007. Global distribution and density of constructed impervious surfaces. Sensors 7, 1962–1979.
- Enloe, H.A., Lockaby, B.G., Zipperer, W.C., Somers, G.L., 2015. Urbanization effects on soil nitrogen transformations and microbial biomass in the subtropics. Urban Ecosyst. 18, 963–976. doi:10.1007/s11252-015-0462-8
- Ezenwa, V.O., Godsey, M.S., King, R.J., Guptill, S.C., 2006. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 109–117. doi:10.1098/rspb.2005.3284
- Fanin, N., Hättenschwiler, S., Fromin, N., 2014. Litter fingerprint on microbial biomass, activity, and community structure in the underlying soil. Plant Soil 379, 79–91. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2051-7
- Ge, C., Xue, D., Yao, H., 2010. Microbial Biomass, Community Diversity, and Enzyme Activities in Response to Urea Application in Tea Orchard Soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41, 797–810. doi:10.1080/00103621003592325
- Golubiewski, N.E., 2006. Urbanization increases grassland carbon pools: Effects of landscaping in Colorado's front range. Ecol. Appl. 16, 555–571.
- Groffman, M.P., Bohlen, J.P., Fisk, C.M., Fahey, J.T., 2004. Exotic Earthworm Invasion and Microbial Biomass in Temperate Forest Soils. Ecosystems 7, 45–54. doi:10.1007/s10021-003-0129-9
- Harris, M.M., Safford, L.O., 1996. EFFECTS OF SEASON AND FOUR TREE SPECIES ON SOLUBLE CARBON CONTENT IN FRESH AND DECOMPOSING LITTER OF TEMPERATE FORESTS1. Soil Sci. 161, 130– 135. doi:10.1097/00010694-199602000-00008
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014a. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014b. Influence of aboveground tree biomass, home age, and yard maintenance on soil carbon levels in residential yards. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 787–805. doi:10.1007/s11252-014-0350-7

- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2013. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2016. Spatial analysis of aquifer response times for radial flow processes: Nondimensional analysis and laboratory-scale tests. J. Hydrol. 532, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.11.024
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2014. An analytical framework for quantifying aquifer response time scales associated with transient boundary conditions. J. Hydrol. 519, Part B, 1642–1648. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.09.018
- Jeffries, C.L., Walker, T., 2016. Wolbachia Biocontrol Strategies for Arboviral Diseases and the Potential Influence of Resident Wolbachia Strains in Mosquitoes. Curr. Trop. Med. Rep. 3, 20–25. doi:10.1007/s40475-016-0066-2
- Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2000. The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10, 423–436. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0423:TVDOSO]2.0.CO;2
- Johnson, N.F., Borror, D.J., 2005. Borror and DeLong's Introduction to the Study of Insects. Thompson Brooks/Cole.
- Johnson, P.C.D., Barry, S.J.E., Ferguson, H.M., Müller, P., 2015. Power analysis for generalized linear mixed models in ecology and evolution. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 133–142. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12306
- Jones, J.B., 1998. Soil test methods: Past, present, and future use of soil extractants. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 29, 1543–1552. doi:10.1080/00103629809370048
- Kaufman, M.G., Goodfriend, W., KohlerGarrigan, A., Walker, E.D., Klug, M.J., 2002. Soluble nutrient effects on microbial communities and mosquito production in Ochlerotatus triseriatus habitats. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 29, 73–88. doi:10.3354/ame029073
- Kaye, J., Groffman, P., Grimm, N., Baker, L., Pouyat, R., 2006. A distinct urban biogeochemistry? Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 192–199. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.12.006
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Randolph, S.E., 2012. Drivers, dynamics, and control of emerging vector-borne zoonotic diseases. The Lancet 380, 1946–1955.
- Kissel, D.E., Sonon, L., Vendrell, P.F., Isaac, R.A., 2009. Salt Concentration and Measurement of Soil pH. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 40, 179–187. doi:10.1080/00103620802625377

- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. science 304, 1623–1627.
- Lehmann, A., Stahr, K., 2007. Nature and significance of anthropogenic urban soils. J. Soils Sediments 7, 247–260. doi:10.1065/jss2007.06.235
- Lorenz, K., Lal, R., 2009. Biogeochemical C and N cycles in urban soils. Environ. Int. 35, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2008.05.006
- Mafongoya, P.L., Barak, P., Reed, J.D., 2000. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralization of tree leaves and manure. Biol. Fertil. Soils 30, 298–305. doi:10.1007/s003740050007
- Majidzadeh, H., Wang, J.-J., Chow, A.T., 2015. Prescribed Fire Alters Dissolved Organic Matter and Disinfection By-Product Precursors in Forested Watersheds - Part I. A Controlled Laboratory Study, in: Recent Advances in Disinfection By-Products, ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 271–292.
- Maleknejad, R., Sudagar, M., Azimi, A., 2014. Effect of Different Live Foods Source (Culex Larvae, Chironomus Larvae and Artemia) on Pigmentation of Electric Yellow (Labidochromis Caeruleus). Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res. 2, 1287– 1295.
- Maria, V.D., Rahman, M., Collins, P., Dondi, G., Sangiorgi, C., 2013. Urban Heat Island Effect: Thermal Response from Different Types of Exposed Paved Surfaces. Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol. 6, 414–422. doi:10.6135/ijprt.org.tw/2013.6(4).414
- Martinez, N.G., Bettez, N.D., Groffman, P.M., 2014. Sources of variation in home lawn soil nitrogen dynamics. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 2146–2151. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.03.0103
- Menon, S., Denman, K.L., Brasseur, G., Chidthaisong, A., Ciais, P., Cox, P.M., Dickinson, R.E., Hauglustaine, D., Heinze, C., Holland, E., Jacob, D., Lohmann, U., Ramachandran, S., Leite da Silva Dias, P., Wofsy, S.C., Zhang, X., 2007. Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry (No. LBNL-464E). Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA (US).
- Milesi, C., Elvidge, C.D., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W., 2003. Assessing the impact of urban land development on net primary productivity in the southeastern United States. Remote Sens. Environ. 86, 401–410. doi:10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00081-6
- Milesi, C., Running, S.W., Elvidge, C.D., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Nemani, R.R., 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turf grasses in the United States. Environ. Manage. 36, 426–438. doi:10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2

- Miller, J.H., Robinson, K.S.;, 1995. A regional perspective of the physiographic provinces of the southeastern United States. pp. 1–3.
- Montague, T., Kjelgren, R., 2004. Energy balance of six common landscape surfaces and the influence of surface properties on gas exchange of four containerized tree species. Sci. Hortic. 100, 229–249. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2003.08.010
- Noori, N., Lockaby, B.G., Kalin, L., 2015. Larval Development of Culex quinquefasciatus in Water with Low to Moderate Pollution Levels. J. Vector Ecol. 40, 208–220. doi:10.1111/jvec.12156
- Norris, D.E., 2004. Mosquito-borne Diseases as a Consequence of Land Use Change. EcoHealth 1, 19–24. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0008-7
- Pataki, D.E., Alig, R.J., Fung, A.S., Golubiewski, N.E., Kennedy, C.A., Mcpherson, E.G., Nowak, D.J., Pouyat, R.V., Romero Lankao, P., 2006. Urban ecosystems and the North American carbon cycle. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 2092–2102. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01242.x
- Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS, 2013. West nile virus: Review of the literature. JAMA 310, 308–315. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.8042
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Golubiewski, N.E., 2009. A comparison of soil organic carbon stocks between residential turf grass and native soil. Urban Ecosyst. 12, 45–62. doi:10.1007/s11252-008-0059-6
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006a. Carbon storage by urban soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566–1575.
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006b. Carbon Storage by Urban Soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0215
- Qian, Y., Follett, R.F., 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long-term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94, 930–935.
- Raciti, S.M., Groffman, P.M., Fahey, T.J., 2008. Nitrogen retention in urban lawns and forests. Ecol. Appl. Publ. Ecol. Soc. Am. 18, 1615–1626. doi:10.1890/07-1062.1
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012a. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012b. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046

- Rao, P., Hutyra, L.R., Raciti, S.M., Finzi, A.C., 2013. Field and remotely sensed measures of soil and vegetation carbon and nitrogen across an urbanization gradient in the Boston metropolitan area. Urban Ecosyst. 16, 593–616. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0291-6
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009a. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009b. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Schaldach, R., Alcamo, J., 2007. Simulating the effects of urbanization, afforestation and cropland abandonment on a regional carbon balance: a case study for Central Germany. Reg. Environ. Change 7, 137–148. doi:10.1007/s10113-007-0034-4
- Scharenbroch, B.C., Lloyd, J.E., Johnson-Maynard, J.L., 2005. Distinguishing urban soils with physical, chemical, and biological properties. Pedobiologia 49, 283–296. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2004.12.002
- Schoonover, J.E., Lockaby, B.G., 2006. Land cover impacts on stream nutrients and fecal coliform in the lower Piedmont of West Georgia. J. Hydrol. 331, 371–382. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.05.031
- Selhorst, A.L., Lal, R., 2011. Carbon budgeting in golf course soils of Central Ohio. Urban Ecosyst. 14, 771–781. doi:10.1007/s11252-011-0168-5
- Shuster, W.D., Bonta, J., Thurston, H., Warnemuende, E., Smith, D.R., 2005. Impacts of impervious surface on watershed hydrology: A review. Urban Water J. 2, 263– 275. doi:10.1080/15730620500386529
- Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 2004. Survey Laboratory Methods Manual.
- Soldat, D.J., Petrovic, A.M., 2008. The Fate and Transport of Phosphorus in Turfgrass Ecosystems. Crop Sci. 48, 2051. doi:10.2135/cropsci2008.03.0134
- Sollins, P., Homann, P., Caldwell, B.A., 1996. Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74, 65–105. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(96)00036-5
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M.A., Crawford, J.W., Field, D.J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Courcelles, V. de R. de, Singh, K., Wheeler, I., Abbott, L., Angers, D.A., Baldock, J., Bird, M., Brookes, P.C., Chenu, C., Jastrow, J.D., Lal, R., Lehmann, J., O'Donnell, A.G., Parton, W.J., Whitehead, D., Zimmermann, M., 2013. The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 164, 80–99. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001

- Takebayashi, H., Moriyama, M., 2007. Surface heat budget on green roof and high reflection roof for mitigation of urban heat island. Build. Environ. 42, 2971–2979. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.06.017
- Tomlinson, R.W., Milne, R.M., 2006. Soil carbon stocks and land cover in Northern Ireland from 1939 to 2000. Appl. Geogr. 26, 18–39. doi:10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.10.001
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2014. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision : highlights.
- Urban, M.C., Skelly, D.K., Burchsted, D., Price, W., Lowry, S., 2006. Stream communities across a rural-urban landscape gradient. Divers. Htmlent Glyphamp Asciiamp Distrib. 12, 337–350. doi:10.1111/j.1366-9516.2005.00226.x
- U.S. Census Bureau, 2013. American Housing Survey (AHS) [WWW Document]. URL http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/ahs.html (accessed 6.19.16).
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils: The use of the chloroform fumigation-incubation method in strongly acid soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 19, 697–702. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90051-4
- Wang, J.-J., Dahlgren, R.A., Erşan, M.S., Karanfil, T., Chow, A.T., 2015. Wildfire Altering Terrestrial Precursors of Disinfection Byproducts in Forest Detritus. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 5921–5929. doi:10.1021/es505836m
- Wang, Y., Zhang, D., Shen, Z., Feng, C., Chen, J., 2013. Revealing Sources and Distribution Changes of Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) in Pore Water of Sediment from the Yangtze Estuary. PLOS ONE 8, e76633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076633
- Wardle, D.A., 1992. A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. Biol. Rev. 67, 321–358.
- Wei, Z., 2014. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLoS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Lin, C., 2013. Installation of impervious surface in urban areas affects microbial biomass, activity (potential C mineralisation), and functional diversity of the fine earth. Soil Res. 51, 59. doi:10.1071/SR12089
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Yan, X., Zhou, S., 2014a. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLOS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380

- Wei, Z., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014b. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- Wei, Z.-Q., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- West, T.O., Six, J., 2007. Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Clim. Change 80, 25–41. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8
- Wu, X., Hu, D., Ma, S., Zhang, X., Guo, Z., Gaston, K.J., 2016. Elevated soil CO2 efflux at the boundaries between impervious surfaces and urban greenspaces. Atmos. Environ. 141, 375–378. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.06.050
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015a. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015b. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905

Tables and graphs

Table 2.1. Mean soil temperature (°C) in warm and cold periods of the year beneath different treatments at depth 10 cm and 20 cm.

	Depth = 10 cm		Depth = 20 cm	
Treatments	May-Oct	Nov-Apr	May-Oct	Nov-Apr
Reference	25.82 ± 3.41	11.57 ± 5.56	25.64 ± 3.26	11.68 ± 5.25
Concrete	27.27 ± 3.83	12.00 ± 4.91	27.11 ± 3.67	12.19 ± 4.64
Home	24.61 ± 3.53	11.58 ± 4.05	24.54 ± 3.34	11.84 ± 3.79



Figure 2.1. 5m x 5m Reference (A), Concrete (B) and Home (C) plots. Each plot has a 4 meters buffer zone around it.



Figure 2.2. Soil volumetric water content pattern over a year at depth 10 cm (A) and 20 cm (B) at reference plots and beneath concrete and homes.



Figure 2.3. Monthly variation of mean soil carbon by treatment (n=4/ month) at layer one (A), and two (B). Monthly variation of mean nitrogen content by treatment at layer one (C) and layer two (D). Means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$. The number in the parenthesis in the x-axis refers to the month following the start of the project.



Figure 2.4. The monthly dynamic of soil microbial biomass carbon by treatment (n=4/ month) at layer one (A), and two (B). Means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 2.5. (A) Variation in soil nitrogen mineralization rate over time by treatment (n = 4/ month). (B) in soil ammonium content (n = 4/ month). (C) in soil nitrate content (n = 4/ month) over time.

Chapter 3: Effect of home construction on soil carbon storage in the Piedmont Region of the Southeastern United States

Abstract

Increased urbanization has resulted in rapid expansion of impervious surfaces. To access the ecosystem services provided by urban areas such as carbon sequestration, the estimation of carbon storage beneath the impervious surface is crucial. However, a knowledge gap exists due to the paucity of data. A systematic approach to measure soil carbon beneath impervious surfaces requires studies of various classes and sizes of impervious surfaces. Since homes cover more than 20% of impervious surfaces in the United States, we quantified soil carbon (C), nitrogen (N), microbial activity, bulk density, soil moisture, and macronutrients beneath homes built on a crawl space at two depths (0-10 cm, and 10-20 cm). All homes were sampled in the Piedmont region of Alabama and Georgia, USA, and ranged from 11 to 114 years in age. This enabled the use of a chronosequence approach to estimate carbon loss or gain beneath the homes sampled. The average soil C and N content in the top 10 cm were $61.86 \% (\pm 4.42 \%)$, and 65.77 % (\pm 5.65 %) respectively lower beneath the homes in comparison to urban lawns. The soil C and N loss beneath the homes revealed a quadratic relation with age and maximum C loss occurring at approximately fifty years in age. Microbial biomass carbon (MBC), and nitrogen (MBN) were significantly lower beneath the homes compared to the urban lawns, while bulk density and phosphorus were higher beneath the homes in the top 10 cm.

Introduction

The global urban population has increased from 746 million in 1950 to 3.9 billion in 2014 and is expected to surpass 6.4 billion by 2050 (United Nations et al., 2014). One important aspect of urban expansion is its effect on soil C storage and the global C cycle (Pataki et al., 2006; Pouyat et al., 2009; West and Six, 2007). Urban expansion has changed native land use and land cover, and substantially increased the area covered by urban lawns and impervious surfaces such as buildings, roads and parking lots (Jazaei et al., 2016; Lorenz and Lal, 2009; Milesi et al., 2003; Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009a; Shuster et al., 2005). While soil C storage in lawns has been widely studied in recent years, only a few field studies have investigated soil C storage beneath impervious surfaces. Most of these previous studies suggest that urban lawns have higher soil C storage compared to native ecosystems (Kaye et al., 2006; Milesi et al., 2005; Pouyat et al., 2009; Rao et al., 2013). For instance, turfgrass soils had twice as much C storage in the top 20 cm compared to rural forests in Baltimore, MD (Pouyat et al., 2009). However, in areas with very high native C content such as Boston, MA., urban lawns had similar levels of C storage to that of native soils (Pouyat et al., 2009).

Ecosystem services provided by urban areas cannot be understood without considering the effects that impervious surfaces have on soil biogeochemical processes. Impervious surfaces cover more than 580,000 km² globally (Elvidge et al., 2007). In the United States, the impervious surface area is greater than 83,337 km² which is larger than the total area of herbaceous wetlands (Elvidge et al., 2004). Installation of impervious surfaces may involve removal of the top soil which is rich in organic matter

48

(Lorenz and Lal, 2009; Yan et al., 2015b). It also limits the input of organic matter and will alter soil physical properties such as bulk density, temperature, and moisture (Scalenghe and Marsan, 2009b; Shuster et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the soil beneath these surfaces may still serve as habitat for microorganisms and insects, and provide space for rooting and leaching (Lehmann and Stahr, 2007). Soil C storage beneath impervious surfaces has been assumed to range from zero (Tomlinson and Milne, 2006) to 1 kg m^2 (Cannell et al., 1999; Schaldach and Alcamo, 2007) to 3.3 kg m² (Pouvat et al., 2006a) for the top 100 cm. However, studies that have sampled beneath the impervious surfaces do not confirm the previously mentioned assumptions. Soil C beneath impervious surfaces was 2.29 kg C m⁻² [top 15 cm, New York, U.S. (Raciti et al., 2012b)]; 2.35 kg C m⁻² [top 20 cm, Nanjing City, China (Z.-Q. Wei et al., 2014)]; 2.46 [top 20 cm, Yixing City China (Z. Wei et al., 2014a)]; and 3.55 [top 20, Urumqi City, China (Yan et al., 2015a)]. Normalizing these values to the top 100 cm (minimum value of 5.8 kg C m⁻² in New York) reveals a significant underestimation of C in studies where sampling did not occur. In addition, Edmondson et al. (2012), sampled seventeen excavation sites in England and did not find any significant difference in C storage between urban lawns and beneath impervious surfaces. However, they excluded the topsoil removal from their calculations. These five sampling studies included road pavements, paved residential squares (Raciti et al., 2012b; Z. Wei et al., 2014b), and residential driveways (Edmondson et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2015b), but did not include homes. Yan et al. (2015), reported that the soil C storage decreased with distance from the edge of impervious surfaces, suggesting that soil C storage beneath narrow impervious surfaces (i.e.

sidewalks, residential pavements) may be higher than impervious surfaces with a larger footprint (i.e. buildings and parking lots).

Another component of soil C is microbial biomass, the non-plant portion of the soil organic matter. Microorganisms have a key role in C cycle feedbacks (Enloe et al., 2015; Fanin et al., 2014), and thus, microbial biomass C and N can be used as an early indicator of changes in soil quality (Ge et al., 2010; Groffman et al., 2004). Microbial activity and diversity may decrease by as much as 80% beneath the impervious surfaces due to lack of carbon, sunlight and temperature stresses ((Wei et al., 2013).

Specific objectives of this study included: 1) determination of C and macronutrient content within 0-10, and 10-20 cm depths beneath homes built on a crawl space and associated lawns; and 2) to quantify microbial biomass within the same soil samples.

Material and Methods

Study area

Samples were collected from Auburn, AL (latitude 32.60° N longitude 85.48° W), and Opelika, AL (latitude 32.64° N longitude 85.38° W), and Barnesville, GA (latitude 33.05° N longitude 84.15° W). Barnesville is situated in the Piedmont upland section of the Piedmont province of the Appalachian Highlands (Miller and Robinson, 1995). Auburn and Opelika are located on the fall line between the Coastal Plain and the Piedmont Plateau. All soil cores were collected from the Piedmont plateau. The taxonomic classes of the sampled soil included Fine, kaolinitic, thermic Typic Kanhapludults (Pacolet, and Cecil series) and Fine-loamy, kaolinitic, thermic Typic Kanhapludults (Marvin series). The region has a mean annual air temperature of 17.4 °C and an average precipitation of 1337 mm. Trees common on urban properties included red maple (*Acer rubrum* L.), pecan (*Carya illinoensis*), sweetgum (*Liquidambar styraciflua* L.), oaks (*Quercus* spp.), loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*), and shortleaf pine (*Pinus echinata*).Turf grasses were mostly Bahiagrass (*Paspalum notatum*), Bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*), Zoysiagrass (*Zoysia*).

Twenty-four homes (n=17 in AL. and n=7 in GA), constructed on a crawl space, were sampled and ranged from 11 to 114 years in age. Age data obtained from the city of Auburn Planning Commission and Lee County Courthouse, Opelika, Al. Homes selected randomly when volunteers were available.

Soil properties

At each homestead, two soil cores (5 cm diameter) at two depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm) were collected for chemical analysis in the crawl space (n=4) and in the adjoining lawns (n=4), totaling 192 soil cores collected from the 24 homes. All soil cores removed from beneath the homes were at least two meters from the exterior wall. Bulk density samples were collected next to each chemical soil sample location. The bulk density samples were dried at 105 °C, and soil bulk density was calculated using the core method (Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 2004). The air-dried soil samples were used to measure pH in a 0.01 molar solution of calcium chloride using an automated LabFit AS-3000 pH analyzer. The measured values were converted to 1:1 mixture of soil:water values by adding a conversion factor of 0.6. Using a diluted solution of salts to measure soil pH will result in more stable values between seasons and years (Kissel et al., 2009).

The Mehlich-1 method (Jones, 1998) was used to quantify concentrations of extractable P, Ca, K, Mg, Mn, and Zn using Inductively Coupled Plasma Spectrograph (ICAP61E, Madison, WI). Total C and N were measured using a PerkinElmer 2400 Series II CHNS/O analyzer (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA). Soil gravimetric water (W_m) calculated by drying 10 g of soil in oven at least for 24 h at 80 °C and using the following equation:

 $W_m \!=\! \frac{\textit{Moist soil weight} - dry \textit{ soil weight}}{dry \textit{ soil weight}}$

Soil percent volumetric water (Wv) was quantified by multiplying W_m and soil bulk density.

Microbial biomass

The chloroform-fumigation method (Vance et al., 1987) was used for measuring soil microbial biomass C, and N. Soil samples were homogenized by sieving through a 2 mm mesh sieve and dividing into two sets of 18.5 g. The first set was fumigated by exposing soil to alcohol-free chloroform for 24 hours. Fumigated and unfumigated samples were extracted with 100 mL 0.5 mol L⁻¹ K₂SO₄ for 30 minutes. Extracts were filtered (Whatman no. 42 filters) and then frozen. After thawing, samples were analyzed for organic C and total N using a Shimadzu TOC-V and total N combustion analyzer (Shimadzu Scientific Instruments, Columbia, MD). The differences between fumigated and unfumigated samples represent microbial C and N.

Statistical analysis

"R" software, version 3.1.2 was used for all statistical analysis in this study. A linear mixed-effects model using the nlme package of "R" software was utilized to compare soil properties beneath the houses and in urban lawns. The Tukey's honestly

significant difference (HSD) following an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was used to differentiate the means (Agricola package, $\alpha = 0.05$), for soil C, N, microbial biomass C and N, and bulk density between urban lawns and beneath the homes at two depths. There was an interaction between two depths and treatments (urban lawns, and beneath the houses), thus instead of a two-way ANOVA, soil properties were examined at two separate depths (0-10 cm, and 10-20 cm).

Results

Soil Carbon and Nitrogen

The soil C content in the top 10 cm and 10-20 cm were respectively, 61.86 % (\pm 4.42 %), and 56.82 % (\pm 3.67 %) lower beneath the homes compared to urban lawns (*p*-value <0.001, Fig. 3.1a). The soil C content decreased with depth and was 1.25 (\pm 0.18) kg C m⁻² at 0-10 cm and 0.78 (\pm 0.12) kg C m⁻² at 10-20 cm beneath the homes. In urban lawns, soil C was 3.38 (\pm 0.13) kg C m⁻² at 0-10 cm and 1.88 (\pm 0.13) kg C/m² at 10-20 cm (*p*-value < 0.001). The difference in carbon content beneath the homes and adjoining grassed area was calculated using the following equation for each home:

Difference (%) =
$$\frac{Soil \, carbon \, in \, adjoining \, lawn - Soil \, Carbon \, beneath \, the \, home}{Soil \, carbon \, in \, adjoining \, lawn} \times 100$$

The difference in C had a quadratic relation with home age (*p*-value = 0.004, r^2 = 0.31, Fig. 3.2a) which could be separated by two periods of time. For the first 53 years, the difference increased in the upper 10 cm (*p*-value =0.01, r^2 = 0.49, Fig. 3.2b). Following that, the difference in C content decreased between age 53 and 114 years (*p*-

value =0.05, $r^2 = 0.19$, Fig. 3.2c). The soil N beneath the homes compared to urban lawns decreased by 65.77 % (± 5.65 %), and 55.11 % (± 5.31 %) in the top 10 cm and 10-20 cm

respectively (*p*-value < 0.001, Fig. 3.1b). Similar to C, a quadratic relation between home age and the difference in N was observed (*p*-value = 0.01, $r^2 = 0.33$, Fig. 3.3).

In contrast to C and N content, the C:N ratio was significantly higher (*p*-value <0.001) beneath the homes (20.26 ± 1.48) in comparison to lawns (15.72 ± 1.34). A significant relation between C and N content was observed both beneath the houses ($r^2 = 0.76$, *p*-value <0.001) and in lawns ($r^2 = 0.74$, *p*-value <0.001, Fig. 3.4).

Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen

A 66.90 % (\pm 3.84 %), and 67.80% (\pm 5.31 %) decline in microbial biomass carbon (MBC) was observed beneath the houses compared to urban lawns in the top 10 cm and 10-20 cm, respectively (*p*-value <0.001, Fig. 3.5a). The soil microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN) was 89.36% (\pm 2.9 %), and 81.49% (\pm 2.55 %) lower than that of in urban lawns in top 10 cm and 10-20 cm respectively (Fig. 3.5b). The MBC and MBN both showed a negative relation with depth in lawns (*p*-value <0.001). However, no significant relation between MBC, or MBN and depth was observed beneath the homes.

Other soil physical and chemical properties

Soil bulk density was significantly higher beneath the houses in comparison to that in urban lawns (*p*-value <0.001, table 1). Soil bulk density increased with depth in urban lawns (*p*-value <0.001) but displayed no significant increase beneath the homes. Soil C concentrations were negatively related with bulk density. In top 10 cm, soil C concentrations decreased 0.55 g kg⁻¹ (\pm 0.15; r² = 0.22, *p*-value = 0.001) and 1.6 g kg⁻¹ (\pm 0.4; r² = 0.21, *p*-value = 0.003) for each 1 Mg m⁻³ increase in soil bulk density in urban lawns, and beneath the houses, respectively (Fig. 3.6a, b). In depth 10-20 cm soil C concentration and bulk density were also negatively related in both urban lawns and beneath the homes (Fig. 3.6c, d).

Soil moisture beneath the houses was higher than urban lawns at both depths (p-value <0.01). The samplings were conducted in summer and higher evaporation rates in grassed areas were expected. Soil moisture and carbon content were positively related in lawns at both depths (Fig. 3.7a, b). However, the soil moisture beneath the homes had a negative relation with soil carbon content at the top 10 cm, and no significant relation observed at depth 10 -20 cm (Fig. 3.7c, d). Higher pH, extractable Ca, Mg, and phosphorus content was observed beneath homes compared to urban lawns in top 10 cm (table 1). Lower concentrations of P in urban lawns in comparison to underneath the houses may be due to plant uptake and removal of P by grass clippings (Soldat and Petrovic, 2008).

Discussion

Soil C content in urban lawns of this study (5.26 kg C m⁻²) was higher than findings of (Huyler et al., 2013) who reported C content of 2.37 kg C m⁻² in the top 15 cm of residential lawns in Auburn, AL. Moreover, normalizing our data to 1 meter by extrapolating the lower portion of the core data, (Pouyat et al., 2006a), the C storage in the top 1 meter of urban lawns (7.69 kg C m⁻²), was similar to C storage in native forests of the southeast United States (7.02 kg C m⁻²). This similar C storage is expected in temperate areas due to low C storage of native soils and fewer management practices which are required for turfgrass growth in comparison to arid regions (Pouyat et al., 2009). Soil C content beneath the houses was 63.30 % lower than the adjoining urban lawns. The decrease in C beneath the homes was similar to that of beneath pavements in two other studies in China and the United States (Raciti et al., 2012b; Z. Wei et al., 2014b). Higher decreases in C content (75 %) also have been reported in a study in China (Yan et al., 2015a). The equilibrium value assumption for soil C beneath impervious surfaces suggested by Wei et al., 2014 may be oversimplified. In this assumption, a constant value would be considered for the soil C content beneath the impervious surfaces. If due to the lack of field data, any assumptions are to be made, equilibrium decrease in C (68.07 $\% \pm 4.3$, an average of four field studies) beneath the impervious surfaces in comparison to urban lawns would be a better estimation. In areas that the data is available, using native forests as the reference instead of urban lawns would provide even a better estimation since the C levels would not be affected by management practices.

Homes cover approximately 18,000 km² of the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013), which would be approximately, 20% of the total impervious surface in the U.S. (Elvidge et al., 2007). Of these homes, 21.4 % are built on crawl spaces, while less than 24% were constructed on concrete slabs (U.S. Census Bureau, 2013). The soil C storage beneath homes built on a crawl space in the southeastern U.S. is approximately 2.96 million metric tons of C which translates to a loss of 8.06 million metric tons of C to the atmosphere. This estimation is based on assumptions that (a) removed top soil has not been protected or re-used (b) only 21% (national average) of the 4,888 km² homes in the southeastern U.S. are constructed on a crawl space, and (c) the average C loss beneath these homes is similar to the findings of this study.

The soil C: N ratios were significantly higher beneath the homes in comparison to urban lawns, suggesting that soil beneath the impervious surface has lower N.This was also confirmed by our microbial biomass data. Microbial biomass C dropped 65.14 %, while MBN dropped by 80.51 % beneath the homes. This decrease in microbial biomass is linked with lack of bioavailable C and N (Wardle, 1992). Moreover, increased soil pH (Table 1), lack of sunlight, lower temperatures, and oxygen limitations may also reduce microbial biomass (Zhao et al., 2012).

While the carbon content in lawns and beneath the homes did not show any relation with time, the difference in C content increased over time and reached its maximum (more than 90 %) at age 53 years. Following that, it decreased between ages 53 and 114 years. This pattern can be due to the accumulation of C in urban lawns and/or loss of C beneath the homes. In order to shed light on this process, MBC: C ratios were calculated for both land covers. The MBC: C ratio is an indicator of the proportion of metabolized carbon (Scharenbroch et al., 2005). The increase in this ratio over time is a sign of C loss, while a decrease in it would be indicative of C sequestration (Beyer et al., 1995). The MBC: C ratio in lawns showed no relation with age suggesting that soil carbon in the age range of studied lawns is almost stabilized. However, this ratio increased for the first 53 years ($r^2 = 0.27$, *p*-value = 0.03), and was decreasing between ages 53 and 114 ($r^2 = 0.15$, *p*-value = 0.05) beneath the homes (Fig.3.8). These trends suggest that C loss may be the prevalent process for the first 50 years beneath the homes

while the C sequestration would be the dominant process afterward. We may speculate that C loss and gain have different mechanisms beneath the homes. The decomposition of C to the atmosphere as CO_2 may be the major driver of C loss which would be limited to the surface soil and all the decomposable carbon may have decomposed in the first fifty years. However, the major process of carbon gain may be dissolved organic carbon leaching from surroundings of homes which would not be linked to the age of the structure and become the source of carbon. Moreover, crawl spaces in the southeastern U.S. have lower temperatures during summer months which can reduce evaporative loss of C. The lower temperatures also provide an excellent shelter for insects such as ants and termites which can increase the soil C.

The U.S. has the largest impervious surface area per person (297 m²/ per person) (Elvidge et al., 2007), and is expanding rapidly with approximately \$480 billion per year investment in construction (Elvidge et al., 2004). Thus, a better understanding of C storage beneath these surfaces and strategies to minimize C loss there is of great importance. Top soil removal accounts for a major portion of C loss beneath the impervious surfaces. Protecting the top soil would minimize the contribution of home construction on atmospheric C. Further studies are required to compare soil C beneath the houses built on crawl spaces to those constructed on concrete slabs in order to add clarity regarding C storage beneath the homes.

References

- Allan, B.F., Langerhans, R.B., Ryberg, W.A., Landesman, W.J., Griffin, N.W., Katz, R.S., Oberle, B.J., Schutzenhofer, M.R., Smyth, K.N., de St. Maurice, A., Clark, L., Crooks, K.R., Hernandez, D.E., McLean, R.G., Ostfeld, R.S., Chase, J.M., 2009. Ecological correlates of risk and incidence of West Nile virus in the United States. Oecologia 158, 699–708. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1169-9
- Attar, N., 2016. ZIKA virus circulates in new regions. Nat Rev Micro 14, 62–62.
- Barrera, R., Amador, M., Clark, G.G., 2006. Ecological factors influencing Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) productivity in artificial containers in Salinas, Puerto Rico. J. Med. Entomol. 43, 484–492. doi:10.1093/jmedent/43.3.484
- Benelli, G., Mehlhorn, H., 2016. Declining malaria, rising of dengue and Zika virus: insights for mosquito vector control. Parasitol. Res. 115, 1747–1745. doi:10.1007/s00436-016-4971-z
- Benelli, G., Murugan, K., Panneerselvam, C., Madhiyazhagan, P., Conti, B., Nicoletti, M., 2015. Old ingredients for a new recipe? Neem cake, a low-cost botanical byproduct in the fight against mosquito-borne diseases. Parasitol. Res. 114, 391– 397. doi:10.1007/s00436-014-4286-x
- Berman, Tom, Chava, Sara, 1999. Algal growth on organic compounds as nitrogen sources. J. Plankton Res. 21, 1423–1437. doi:10.1093/plankt/21.8.1423
- Beyer, L., Blume, H.-P., Elsner, D.-C., 1995. Soil organic matter composition and microbial activity in urban soils. Sci. Total Environ. 168, 267–278. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04704-5
- Bottomley, P.S., Angle, J.S., Weaver, R.W., Hart, S.C., Stark, J.M., Davidson, E.A., Firestone, M.K., 1994. Nitrogen Mineralization, Immobilization, and Nitrification, in: SSSA Book Series. Soil Science Society of America.
- Brown, H.E., Childs, J.E., Diuk-Wasser, M.A., Fish, D., 2008. Ecologic Factors Associated with West Nile Virus Transmission, Northeastern United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 14, 1539–1545. doi:10.3201/eid1410.071396
- Byrne, L.B., 2007. Habitat structure: A fundamental concept and framework for urban soil ecology. Urban Ecosyst. 10, 255–274. doi:10.1007/s11252-007-0027-6
- Cannell, M.G.R., Milne, R., Hargreaves, K.J., Brown, T. a. W., Cruickshank, M.M., Bradley, R.I., Spencer, T., Hope, D., Billett, M.F., Adger, W.N., Subak, S., 1999.
 National Inventories of Terrestrial Carbon Sources and Sinks: The U.K. Experience. Clim. Change 42, 505–530. doi:10.1023/A:1005425807434

- Chow, A.T., Dai, J., Conner, W.H., Hitchcock, D.R., Wang, J.-J., 2012. Dissolved organic matter and nutrient dynamics of a coastal freshwater forested wetland in Winyah Bay, South Carolina. Biogeochemistry 112, 571–587. doi:10.1007/s10533-012-9750-z
- Churkina, G., Brown, D.G., Keoleian, G., 2010. Carbon stored in human settlements: the conterminous United States: CARBON IN HUMAN SETTLEMENTS. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 135–143. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02002.x
- Coxe, S., West, S.G., Aiken, L.S., 2009. The Analysis of Count Data: A Gentle Introduction to Poisson Regression and Its Alternatives. J. Pers. Assess. 91, 121– 136. doi:10.1080/00223890802634175
- Devau, N., Cadre, E.L., Hinsinger, P., Jaillard, B., Gérard, F., 2009. Soil pH controls the environmental availability of phosphorus: Experimental and mechanistic modelling approaches. Appl. Geochem. 24, 2163–2174. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2009.09.020
- Dowling, Z., Armbruster, P., LaDeau, S.L., DeCotiis, M., Mottley, J., Leisnham, P.T., 2013. Linking Mosquito Infestation to Resident Socioeconomic Status, Knowledge, and Source Reduction Practices in Suburban Washington, DC. EcoHealth 10, 36–47. doi:10.1007/s10393-013-0818-6
- Edmondson, J.L., Davies, Z.G., McHugh, N., Gaston, K.J., Leake, J.R., 2012. Organic carbon hidden in urban ecosystems. Sci. Rep. 2. doi:10.1038/srep00963
- Elvidge, C.D., Milesi, C., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Nemani, R., Vogelmann, J.E., 2004. US constructed area approaches the size of Ohio. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 85, 233–233.
- Elvidge, C.D., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Baugh, K.E., Howard, A.T., Milesi, C., Bhaduri, B., Nemani, R., 2007. Global distribution and density of constructed impervious surfaces. Sensors 7, 1962–1979.
- Enloe, H.A., Lockaby, B.G., Zipperer, W.C., Somers, G.L., 2015. Urbanization effects on soil nitrogen transformations and microbial biomass in the subtropics. Urban Ecosyst. 18, 963–976. doi:10.1007/s11252-015-0462-8
- Ezenwa, V.O., Godsey, M.S., King, R.J., Guptill, S.C., 2006. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 109–117. doi:10.1098/rspb.2005.3284
- Fanin, N., Hättenschwiler, S., Fromin, N., 2014. Litter fingerprint on microbial biomass, activity, and community structure in the underlying soil. Plant Soil 379, 79–91. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2051-7

- Ge, C., Xue, D., Yao, H., 2010. Microbial Biomass, Community Diversity, and Enzyme Activities in Response to Urea Application in Tea Orchard Soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41, 797–810. doi:10.1080/00103621003592325
- Golubiewski, N.E., 2006. Urbanization increases grassland carbon pools: Effects of landscaping in Colorado's front range. Ecol. Appl. 16, 555–571.
- Groffman, M.P., Bohlen, J.P., Fisk, C.M., Fahey, J.T., 2004. Exotic Earthworm Invasion and Microbial Biomass in Temperate Forest Soils. Ecosystems 7, 45–54. doi:10.1007/s10021-003-0129-9
- Harris, M.M., Safford, L.O., 1996. EFFECTS OF SEASON AND FOUR TREE SPECIES ON SOLUBLE CARBON CONTENT IN FRESH AND DECOMPOSING LITTER OF TEMPERATE FORESTS1. Soil Sci. 161, 130– 135. doi:10.1097/00010694-199602000-00008
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014a. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014b. Influence of aboveground tree biomass, home age, and yard maintenance on soil carbon levels in residential yards. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 787–805. doi:10.1007/s11252-014-0350-7
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2013. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2016. Spatial analysis of aquifer response times for radial flow processes: Nondimensional analysis and laboratory-scale tests. J. Hydrol. 532, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.11.024
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2014. An analytical framework for quantifying aquifer response time scales associated with transient boundary conditions. J. Hydrol. 519, Part B, 1642–1648. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.09.018
- Jeffries, C.L., Walker, T., 2016. Wolbachia Biocontrol Strategies for Arboviral Diseases and the Potential Influence of Resident Wolbachia Strains in Mosquitoes. Curr. Trop. Med. Rep. 3, 20–25. doi:10.1007/s40475-016-0066-2
- Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2000. The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10, 423–436. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0423:TVDOSO]2.0.CO;2
- Johnson, N.F., Borror, D.J., 2005. Borror and DeLong's Introduction to the Study of Insects. Thompson Brooks/Cole.
- Johnson, P.C.D., Barry, S.J.E., Ferguson, H.M., Müller, P., 2015. Power analysis for generalized linear mixed models in ecology and evolution. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 133–142. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12306
- Jones, J.B., 1998. Soil test methods: Past, present, and future use of soil extractants. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 29, 1543–1552. doi:10.1080/00103629809370048
- Kaufman, M.G., Goodfriend, W., KohlerGarrigan, A., Walker, E.D., Klug, M.J., 2002. Soluble nutrient effects on microbial communities and mosquito production in Ochlerotatus triseriatus habitats. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 29, 73–88. doi:10.3354/ame029073
- Kaye, J., Groffman, P., Grimm, N., Baker, L., Pouyat, R., 2006. A distinct urban biogeochemistry? Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 192–199. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.12.006
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Randolph, S.E., 2012. Drivers, dynamics, and control of emerging vector-borne zoonotic diseases. The Lancet 380, 1946–1955.
- Kissel, D.E., Sonon, L., Vendrell, P.F., Isaac, R.A., 2009. Salt Concentration and Measurement of Soil pH. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 40, 179–187. doi:10.1080/00103620802625377
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. science 304, 1623–1627.
- Lehmann, A., Stahr, K., 2007. Nature and significance of anthropogenic urban soils. J. Soils Sediments 7, 247–260. doi:10.1065/jss2007.06.235
- Lorenz, K., Lal, R., 2009. Biogeochemical C and N cycles in urban soils. Environ. Int. 35, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2008.05.006
- Mafongoya, P.L., Barak, P., Reed, J.D., 2000. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralization of tree leaves and manure. Biol. Fertil. Soils 30, 298–305. doi:10.1007/s003740050007
- Majidzadeh, H., Wang, J.-J., Chow, A.T., 2015. Prescribed Fire Alters Dissolved Organic Matter and Disinfection By-Product Precursors in Forested Watersheds - Part I. A Controlled Laboratory Study, in: Recent Advances in Disinfection By-Products, ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 271–292.
- Maleknejad, R., Sudagar, M., Azimi, A., 2014. Effect of Different Live Foods Source (Culex Larvae, Chironomus Larvae and Artemia) on Pigmentation of Electric Yellow (Labidochromis Caeruleus). Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res. 2, 1287– 1295.

- Maria, V.D., Rahman, M., Collins, P., Dondi, G., Sangiorgi, C., 2013. Urban Heat Island Effect: Thermal Response from Different Types of Exposed Paved Surfaces. Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol. 6, 414–422. doi:10.6135/ijprt.org.tw/2013.6(4).414
- Martinez, N.G., Bettez, N.D., Groffman, P.M., 2014. Sources of variation in home lawn soil nitrogen dynamics. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 2146–2151. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.03.0103
- Menon, S., Denman, K.L., Brasseur, G., Chidthaisong, A., Ciais, P., Cox, P.M., Dickinson, R.E., Hauglustaine, D., Heinze, C., Holland, E., Jacob, D., Lohmann, U., Ramachandran, S., Leite da Silva Dias, P., Wofsy, S.C., Zhang, X., 2007. Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry (No. LBNL-464E). Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA (US).
- Milesi, C., Elvidge, C.D., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W., 2003. Assessing the impact of urban land development on net primary productivity in the southeastern United States. Remote Sens. Environ. 86, 401–410. doi:10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00081-6
- Milesi, C., Running, S.W., Elvidge, C.D., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Nemani, R.R., 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turf grasses in the United States. Environ. Manage. 36, 426–438. doi:10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2
- Miller, J.H., Robinson, K.S.;, 1995. A regional perspective of the physiographic provinces of the southeastern United States. pp. 1–3.
- Montague, T., Kjelgren, R., 2004. Energy balance of six common landscape surfaces and the influence of surface properties on gas exchange of four containerized tree species. Sci. Hortic. 100, 229–249. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2003.08.010
- Noori, N., Lockaby, B.G., Kalin, L., 2015. Larval Development of Culex quinquefasciatus in Water with Low to Moderate Pollution Levels. J. Vector Ecol. 40, 208–220. doi:10.1111/jvec.12156
- Norris, D.E., 2004. Mosquito-borne Diseases as a Consequence of Land Use Change. EcoHealth 1, 19–24. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0008-7
- Pataki, D.E., Alig, R.J., Fung, A.S., Golubiewski, N.E., Kennedy, C.A., Mcpherson, E.G., Nowak, D.J., Pouyat, R.V., Romero Lankao, P., 2006. Urban ecosystems and the North American carbon cycle. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 2092–2102. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01242.x
- Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS, 2013. West nile virus: Review of the literature. JAMA 310, 308–315. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.8042

- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Golubiewski, N.E., 2009. A comparison of soil organic carbon stocks between residential turf grass and native soil. Urban Ecosyst. 12, 45–62. doi:10.1007/s11252-008-0059-6
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006a. Carbon storage by urban soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566–1575.
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006b. Carbon Storage by Urban Soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0215
- Qian, Y., Follett, R.F., 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long-term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94, 930–935.
- Raciti, S.M., Groffman, P.M., Fahey, T.J., 2008. Nitrogen retention in urban lawns and forests. Ecol. Appl. Publ. Ecol. Soc. Am. 18, 1615–1626. doi:10.1890/07-1062.1
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012a. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012b. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Rao, P., Hutyra, L.R., Raciti, S.M., Finzi, A.C., 2013. Field and remotely sensed measures of soil and vegetation carbon and nitrogen across an urbanization gradient in the Boston metropolitan area. Urban Ecosyst. 16, 593–616. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0291-6
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009a. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009b. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Schaldach, R., Alcamo, J., 2007. Simulating the effects of urbanization, afforestation and cropland abandonment on a regional carbon balance: a case study for Central Germany. Reg. Environ. Change 7, 137–148. doi:10.1007/s10113-007-0034-4
- Scharenbroch, B.C., Lloyd, J.E., Johnson-Maynard, J.L., 2005. Distinguishing urban soils with physical, chemical, and biological properties. Pedobiologia 49, 283–296. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2004.12.002
- Schoonover, J.E., Lockaby, B.G., 2006. Land cover impacts on stream nutrients and fecal coliform in the lower Piedmont of West Georgia. J. Hydrol. 331, 371–382. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.05.031

- Selhorst, A.L., Lal, R., 2011. Carbon budgeting in golf course soils of Central Ohio. Urban Ecosyst. 14, 771–781. doi:10.1007/s11252-011-0168-5
- Shuster, W.D., Bonta, J., Thurston, H., Warnemuende, E., Smith, D.R., 2005. Impacts of impervious surface on watershed hydrology: A review. Urban Water J. 2, 263– 275. doi:10.1080/15730620500386529
- Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 2004. Survey Laboratory Methods Manual.
- Soldat, D.J., Petrovic, A.M., 2008. The Fate and Transport of Phosphorus in Turfgrass Ecosystems. Crop Sci. 48, 2051. doi:10.2135/cropsci2008.03.0134
- Sollins, P., Homann, P., Caldwell, B.A., 1996. Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74, 65–105. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(96)00036-5
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M.A., Crawford, J.W., Field, D.J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Courcelles, V. de R. de, Singh, K., Wheeler, I., Abbott, L., Angers, D.A., Baldock, J., Bird, M., Brookes, P.C., Chenu, C., Jastrow, J.D., Lal, R., Lehmann, J., O'Donnell, A.G., Parton, W.J., Whitehead, D., Zimmermann, M., 2013. The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 164, 80–99. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001
- Takebayashi, H., Moriyama, M., 2007. Surface heat budget on green roof and high reflection roof for mitigation of urban heat island. Build. Environ. 42, 2971–2979. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.06.017
- Tomlinson, R.W., Milne, R.M., 2006. Soil carbon stocks and land cover in Northern Ireland from 1939 to 2000. Appl. Geogr. 26, 18–39. doi:10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.10.001
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2014. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision : highlights.
- Urban, M.C., Skelly, D.K., Burchsted, D., Price, W., Lowry, S., 2006. Stream communities across a rural-urban landscape gradient. Divers. Htmlent Glyphamp Asciiamp Distrib. 12, 337–350. doi:10.1111/j.1366-9516.2005.00226.x
- U.S. Census Bureau, 2013. American Housing Survey (AHS) [WWW Document]. URL http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/ahs.html (accessed 6.19.16).
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils: The use of the chloroform fumigation-incubation method in strongly acid soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 19, 697–702. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90051-4

- Wang, J.-J., Dahlgren, R.A., Erşan, M.S., Karanfil, T., Chow, A.T., 2015. Wildfire Altering Terrestrial Precursors of Disinfection Byproducts in Forest Detritus. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 5921–5929. doi:10.1021/es505836m
- Wang, Y., Zhang, D., Shen, Z., Feng, C., Chen, J., 2013. Revealing Sources and Distribution Changes of Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) in Pore Water of Sediment from the Yangtze Estuary. PLOS ONE 8, e76633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076633
- Wardle, D.A., 1992. A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. Biol. Rev. 67, 321–358.
- Wei, Z., 2014. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLoS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Lin, C., 2013. Installation of impervious surface in urban areas affects microbial biomass, activity (potential C mineralization), and functional diversity of the fine earth. Soil Res. 51, 59. doi:10.1071/SR12089
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Yan, X., Zhou, S., 2014a. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLOS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014b. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- Wei, Z.-Q., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- West, T.O., Six, J., 2007. Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Clim. Change 80, 25–41. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8
- Wu, X., Hu, D., Ma, S., Zhang, X., Guo, Z., Gaston, K.J., 2016. Elevated soil CO2 efflux at the boundaries between impervious surfaces and urban greenspaces. Atmos. Environ. 141, 375–378. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.06.050
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015a. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015b. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905

Zhao, D., Li, F., Wang, R., Yang, Q., Ni, H., 2012. Effect of soil sealing on the microbial biomass, N transformation and related enzyme activities at various depths of soils in urban area of Beijing, China. J. Soils Sediments 12, 519–530. doi:10.1007/s11368-012-0472-6

Tables and graphs

Table 3.1. Mean \pm standard error of soil characteristics sampled at two depths (0-10 cm (n=2) and 10-20 cm (n=2)) beneath the homes constructed on a crawl space (n=24) and in urban lawns (n=24). Row means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Soil properties	Beneath Houses	Urban Lawns	Beneath Houses	Urban Lawns
	(0-10 cm)	(0-10 cm)	(10-20 cm)	(10-20 cm)
Bulk Density (Mg/m ³)	1.47 ± 0.03 a	1.07 ± 0.03 c	1.48 ± 0.03 a	$1.31 \pm 0.04 \text{ b}$
рН	$5.95\pm0.12~a$	5.60± 0.14 ab	$5.61\pm0.12\ ab$	$5.44\pm0.11~b$
Soil water (m ³ / m ³)	$1.58\pm0.11~\text{b}$	$1.36\pm0.16\ c$	$1.82 \pm 0.10 \text{ a}$	1.37 ± 0.11 c
Ca (mg m ⁻²)	93.98 ± 18.08 a	75.90 ± 12.21 ab	$45.48\pm11.36~\text{b}$	57.89 ± 11.21 ab
K (mg m ⁻²)	6.54 ± 0.79 a	$6.57\pm0.72a$	6.39 ± 0.77 a	4.93 ± 0.76 a
P (mg m ⁻²)	4.16 ± 0.49 a	$3.59\pm0.65~b$	$1.00\pm0.50\ c$	3.31 ± 0.48 a
Mg (mg m ⁻²)	12.61 ± 1.01 a	$10.79 \pm 2.02 \text{ ab}$	$8.41\pm0.99~b$	$9.94\pm0.98~b$
Mn (mg m ⁻²)	$1.89 \pm 0.20 \text{ ab}$	$2.38\pm0.26~a$	$1.43\pm0.19~b$	2.06 ± 0.19 ab
Zn (mg m ⁻²)	2.73 ± 0.55 a	$2.46\pm0.66~a$	1.76 ± 0.54 a	1.25 ± 0.53 a



Figure 3.1. Mean \pm standard error soil a) C and b) N content (kg m⁻²) in urban lawns and beneath the homes built on a crawl space at two depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm). Means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 3.2. Carbon loss from the soil beneath the crawl space of homes a) 11-114, b) 11-53, and c) 53-114 years old. Second order polynomial (a) and linear trend line (b, c) used to illustrate the patterns.



Figure 3.3. Nitrogen loss from the soil beneath the crawl space of homes age 11 to 114 years. Second order polynomial trend line used to illustrate the patterns. R-square reported for the polynomial trend line.



Figure 3.4. The relation between soil C and N in a) urban lawns and b) beneath the crawl space of homes.



Figure 3.5. Soil a) microbial biomass C (and b) microbial biomass N (ug g⁻¹) in urban lawns and beneath the crawl space of homes at two depths (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm). Means are significantly different with different letters based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 3.6. Relation between C concentrations $(g kg^{-1})$ and soil bulk density $(Mg m^{-3})$ in urban lawns at depth 0-10 cm (a) urban lawn at depth 10-20 cm (b) beneath the houses at depth 0-10 cm (c), and beneath the houses at depth 10-20 cm (d).



Figure 3.7. Relation between carbon content and soil water in A) urban lawns (0-10 cm), B) urban lawns (10-20 cm), C) beneath homes (0-10 cm), and D) beneath homes (10-20 cm).



Figure 3.8. Relation between Age and the MBC: C ratio a) between age 11 and 53 and b) between age 53 and 114.

Chapter 4: Effects of Urbanization and Urban Lawns on Survival Rate of Mosquitoes

Abstract

Mosquito-borne diseases, especially in urban areas, are a global threat to public health. West Nile virus (WNV), transmitted by the southern house mosquito (*Culex*) quinquefasciatus Say) has caused over 1500 deaths in the United States since 1999. Minimizing breeding habitat would be an effective, eco-friendly method to reduce urban mosquitoes. However, the determination of ideal breeding habitat must first be understood. To that end, a laboratory microcosm study was designed which included abscised leaves from three common overstory tree species in the southeastern United States and turfgrass clippings to simulate potential backyard breeding habitat for *Culex*. Pupae and adult male numbers were positively correlated with dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and negatively correlated with dissolved phosphate (DP). The number of adult females was similarly affected by DOC and DP while dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) was also a key factor for their development. Survival rates were significantly lower in abscised leaf treatments than those found in grass treatments with maximum pupae development of 3.93 ± 2.29 % in the pine treatment and 1.92 ± 1.72 % adult development in the sweetgum treatment. Grass treatments developed 28.50 ± 5.75 % and 22.50 ± 4.79 % pupae and adult mosquitoes respectively, suggesting that urbanization and formation of urban lawns create a suitable habitat for growth of mosquitoes when water ponding exists. This study highlights the importance of variation in carbon,

nitrogen, and phosphorous sources in the ponded water on survival rates of the *Culex* mosquitoes.

Introduction

Disease vectors and in particular urban mosquitoes have long been a global public health threat (Benelli et al., 2015; Kilpatrick and Randolph, 2012). Ongoing outbreaks of West Nile (WNV), Zika (ZIKV), and chikungunya (CHIKV) viruses are examples of urban mosquito-borne diseases (Attar, 2016; Ezenwa et al., 2006). West Nile virus (WNV), unlike the ZIKVand CHIKV, has caused epidemics every summer (Coffey and Reisen 2016) with over 1500 deaths since it was introduced to the United States in 1999 (Allan et al., 2009; Petersen LR et al., 2013). WNV, transmitted by *Culex quinquefasciatus* Say (the southern house mosquito), inhabits regions with tropical and temperate climate. *Culex* is considered a vector between species since it can infect birds, livestock, and humans (Allan et al., 2009). Currently, no vaccines are available for WNV. Therefore, strategies to minimize the mosquito population are required to prevent the spread of the disease (Benelli et al., 2015; Benelli and Mehlhorn, 2016; Jeffries and Walker, 2016).

The life cycle of the *Culex quinquefasciatus* has four major developmental stages: First, the adult female lays egg rafts on surface water or in small natural or man-made containers filled with flood water or rain (Kaufman et al. 2002). Second, within two days eggs hatch and form aquatic larvae (Jeffries and Walker, 2016). During this stage, larvae consume microorganisms (Barrera et al., 2006; Kaufman et al., 2002) and algae in the water to grow (Johnson and Borror, 2005). Third, larvae develop into aquatic pupae. The

time for this to occur depends upon environmental conditions such as temperature and nutrient levels (Johnson and Borror, 2005; Norris, 2004). Fourth, within two to three days the pupa develop into adult mosquitoes (Johnson and Borror, 2005). Since only adult females transmit the viral infection, controlling their population is a priority (Petersen LR et al., 2013). Considering the life cycle of *Culex* and its critical dependence on water, deeper insight into the effect of water quality on the survival rate of the mosquitoes is important especially when considering the physical and monetary toll of the disease on the human population. Water quality may be affected by the surrounding vegetation that serves as a source of organic matter. For instance, it has been shown that sweetgum leaves leach more DOC than longleaf pine, bald cypress, and water tupelo leaves (Majidzadeh et al. 2015). The effect of vegetation on water quality may be magnified when native forests are replaced with lawns due to urbanization. The forest floor, naturally covered with dead and decomposed leaves, is replaced by highly managed lawns (i.e. fertilized, weed removal, clipped regularly). Urban lawns are estimated to cover more than 1.9% of the US (Martinez et al., 2014). This coverage will continue to grow as urbanization stimulates the formation of yards and decorative green spaces (Huyler et al., 2014b; Raciti et al., 2008). Moreover, urbanization has significantly increased mosquito habitats associated with sewers and artificial containers such as bottles and tires (Brown et al., 2008; Dowling et al., 2013). Pollutants from both point or non-point sources such as nitrate and phosphate are commonly found in urban streams (Schoonover and Lockaby, 2006; Urban et al., 2006). (Noori et al., 2015) studied the effect of nutrients in water with levels commonly found in urban streams on the survival

rate of the *Culex* mosquitoes larvae using leaf litter as a food source. They found that an increase of nitrate and phosphate in the water improved mosquito survival rates.

The objectives of this study were to: 1) determine the survival rate of *Culex quinquefasciatus* in containers using turfgrass (*ryegrass*) and abscised leaves from three common tree species in the southeastern United States including sweetgum (*Liquidambar styraciflua* L.), water oak (*Quercus nigra* L.), and loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) as carbon sources; and 2) document how the initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations in water affect the survival rate of mosquitoes. These nutrients are commonly associated with urban streams in the southeastern United States.

Material and Method

A laboratory microcosm study consisting of 75, 1.25 liter containers was designed to examine the effects of initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations in the water and vegetation type on the survival rate of *Culex* mosquitoes. Each microcosm contained two grams of air-dried vegetation input as the carbon source and one-liter of water collected from a stream flowing through the undisturbed forested land. The leaves were abscised (consequently, the foliar nutrient concentrations were reduced) but the grass clippings were fresh (green) so that a differential existed between the chemistry of the leaves vs. grass. The reason for the inclusion of abscised leaves and fresh grass was that these materials are likely to accumulate in containers or concave microsites in residential areas and affect the physicochemical habitat of the mosquito larvae. Stream water analysis showed a minimum level of dissolved organic carbon (10.61 \pm 0.20 mg/L), dissolved organic nitrogen (0.09 \pm 0.01 mg/L) and other nutrients (< 0.06 mg/L). Vegetation treatments were studied at five nutrient levels: low nitrate $(NO_3^- = 3 \text{ mg/L})$; high nitrate $(NO_3^- = 12 \text{ mg/L})$; low phosphate $(PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L})$; high phosphate $(PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L})$; and a control treatment with no nutrient added (Table 1). Initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations were adjusted using sodium nitrate and monopotassium phosphate, respectively.

One hundred *Culex quinquefasciatus* first instar larvae were obtained from a laboratory in Department of Entomology, Auburn University and added to each container. Microcosms were checked twice daily for pupae until day fifty-five at which time there were no more larvae. Following pupation, the pupae were isolated in vials with the same water as that of the initial container. Pupae that developed into adults were sexed and weighed in the laboratory one week after their death. The average temperature in the laboratory was 25.5 °C (± 2.6 °C). Evaporation was monitored using control containers and was compensated using stream water every week.

Total carbon and nitrogen in abscised leaves and turfgrass were measured using thermal combustion Perkin Elmer 2400 Series II CHNS/O analyzer (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA). The water chemistry in each container was tested before addition of larvae and subsequently every two weeks. Water samples were filtered through 0.45 μm filters before analysis. A Shimadzu TOC-V, TNM-1 analyzer (Shimadzu, Norcross, GA.) was used to measure dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and total dissolved nitrogen (TDN). Nitrate, nitrite, ammonium, and phosphate were measured using a Thermo Scientific Dionex ICS-1500 ion chromatography system (Waltham, MA.). Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) was calculated by subtracting TDN from inorganic nitrogen including nitrate, nitrite, and ammonium (Chow et al., 2012). The pH was monitored by a BASIC pH meter Denver Instrument (Gottingen, Germany). The UV absorbance (UVA) at 254 nm was measured using a Shimadzu UV-1800 at room temperature in a 1 cm quartz cell. UVA at 254 nm was normalized by the DOC concentration to calculate the specific ultraviolet absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA), which is an indicator of aromaticity in DOC. Higher SUVA values (L mg-C⁻¹ m⁻¹) indicate a higher aromaticity of the DOC (Majidzadeh et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015).

Statistical Analysis

A factorial design with three blocks as a random effect was used to study the effects of vegetation type and nutrients on the *Culex* mosquitoes life cycle. All statistical analysis in this study were performed using R software, version 3.1.2. Effects of vegetation type and nutrients on the number of pupae and adults (female and male) were studied using generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) with a Poisson distribution. The Poisson family calculates relative abundance or the rate ratio using a link function of e^(coefficient) (Johnson et al., 2015). The rate ratio was calculated and reported within 95% of the confidence interval (C.I.). GLMMs are considered as one of the best approaches to analyze non-normal data including count data (i.e. number of mosquitoes) with a random effect which is replicated in blocks (Johnson et al., 2015). Ordinary least square regressions are not appropriate for the count data since they can be biased (Coxe et al., 2009). Linear mixed-effects models using the nlme package of R software was used to study the effect of vegetation type and nutrients on water quality over time. Tukey's

82

honestly significant difference (HSD) following an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was used to differentiate the means.

Results

Chemical characteristics of abscised leaves and turfgrass

The concentration of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and lignin were determined in three abscised leaf samples from each treatment and fresh turfgrass prior to the experiment (Table 2). The carbon percentage was statistically different among treatments (*p*-value <0.001) and followed the order of 50.58% \pm 0.24 (loblolly pine) > 47.07% \pm 0.024 (water oak) > 45.69% \pm 0.11 (sweetgum) > 42.85% \pm 0.12 (turfgrass). Abscised leaves had a higher percentage of carbon than turfgrass. However, nitrogen concentrations were significantly higher in turfgrass in comparison to abscised leaves (*p*value < 0.001, Table 2). The lignin percentage, and lignin: N ratio which may negatively correlate with decomposition rates (Mafongoya et al., 2000) were significantly higher in abscised leaves in comparison to turfgrass. This lower ratio in the latter was expected since abscised leaves were already dead while the turfgrass was green. The C: N ratio were significantly lower in turf grass in comparison to abscised leaves, confirming the lignin: N ratio results.

Effect of vegetation type and nutrients on water quality

Water samples were collected from all treatments every two weeks for forty days. The sweetgum treatment had the highest DOC (*p*-value < 0.001) followed by turfgrass, water oak, and loblolly pine. Temporally, DOC concentrations within the pine treatment increased 0.12 ± 0.04 mg/L per day (*p*-value = 0.03) (Figure 4.1). This increase may be due to the low solubility of organic carbon and high levels of lignin and lignin: N ratio in pine leaves. The DOC levels of other treatments did not change significantly over time.

Specific UV absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA), an indicator of aromaticity in DOC, was measured for all treatments. The measurement of SUVA was to determine the carbon quality of different vegetation as well as the DOC. The turfgrass and sweetgum treatments had higher aromaticity in comparison to water oak and loblolly pine treatments (*p*-value < 0.001). The aromaticity of treatments did not change over time.

DON concentrations were significantly higher in turfgrass treatments in comparison to abscised leaf treatments (*p*-Value <0.001). Among abscised leaf treatments, sweetgum had higher DON concentrations compared to water oak and loblolly pine. The DOC: DON ratio of the sweetgum treatment was higher than other treatments (167.58 \pm 6.41; 95% C.I.; *p*-value <0.001) despite its high levels of DOC and DON. The DOC: DON ratio in other treatments statistically ranked as follows: loblolly pine (99.48 \pm 4.35) > water oak (77.75 \pm 6.15) > turfgrass (62.19 \pm 6.15) (*p*-value < 0.001).

The initial nitrate concentration in the water had no significant effect on DOC leaching from abscised leaves. However, for the turfgrass treatments, a 0.66 ± 0.17 mg/L increase in DOC concentration was observed for each 1 mg/L increase in initial nitrate concentration. This increase may be due to an enhanced decomposition rate following the nitrate addition. Initial phosphate concentration had no effect on the DOC level leaching from abscised leaves and grass.

Effect of vegetation type and water quality on number of pupae

No pupae emerged in control containers, suggesting that water and nutrients were inadequate for pupae development in the absence of a carbon source. Since no pupae developed in the control treatment, this treatment was excluded from the analysis. Turfgrass treatments developed a significantly higher number of pupae with an average of 28.5 ± 5.75 % development at all levels of nutrients and were followed by loblolly pine (3.93 ± 2.29 %), water oak (2.64 ± 1.85 %) and sweetgum (2.25 ± 1.84 %) (Figure 4.2). The low number of pupae in loblolly pine and water oak was expected due to the lack of food as indicated by the low levels of DOC leaching from these species. However, the low number of pupae in the sweetgum treatments was not expected considering its chemical characteristics. High levels of DOC, DON, and DP in the sweetgum treatments should have created ample food sources for microorganisms. Despite that, most larvae died within the first week of the sweetgum treatment except for a few that developed to the pupae stage.

A generalized linear mixed model was used to study the effect of water quality parameters including DOC, SUVA, DON, and DP on the number of pupae. Since most of the pupae in the sweetgum treatment died within the first week except for a few, this treatment was not included in this analysis. However, the model with sweetgum is presented in the appendix. The number of pupae was positively correlated with DOC concentrations and negatively correlated with DP concentrations (Table 3).

In addition to vegetation inputs, the effect of initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations in the water on the number of pupae was examined. Initial nitrate concentrations were correlated positively with the number of pupae in the grass and sweetgum treatments. A 1 mg/ L increase in nitrate concentrations resulted in 1.04 (1.06-1.01; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.005) and 1.13 (1.22-1.05; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.005) times more pupae per container for turfgrass and sweetgum treatments, respectively. Pupae in water oak and loblolly pine treatments were not affected by nitrate concentrations. Initial phosphate concentrations in water had no significant effect on the number of pupae in any treatment.

Effect of vegetation and water quality on number of adult mosquitoes

The number of adults in the turfgrass treatments was significantly higher than that of the abscised leaf treatments (*p*-value < 0.001, Figure 4.2). In turfgrass treatments 22.54 % (\pm 4.79; 95% C.I.) of the first instar larvae developed to the adult stage while only 1.17% (\pm 1.39; 95% C.I.), 1.01% (\pm 0.96; 95% C.I.), and 0.43% (\pm 0.79; 95% C.I.) of the first instar larvae developed to the adult stage in the sweetgum, loblolly pine, and water oak treatments, respectively. Although the sweetgum treatments were associated with the low development of pupae, 88% (\pm 20; 95% C.I.) of developed pupae became adult mosquitos. This dropped to 67% (\pm 15; 95% C.I.) in turfgrass treatments, 17% (\pm 1.8; 95% C.I.) in loblolly pine, and 16% (\pm 2.4; 95% C.I.) in water oak (*p*-value < 0.001).

The same statistical model was also utilized to test the effects of water quality on number of adults. The number of female mosquitoes was positively correlated with DOC and DON concentrations while the number of adult males was positively correlated with DOC concentrations and negatively correlated to DP concentrations (Table 3). There was a positive interaction between initial nitrate concentration and the number of adult females and males in both the turfgrass and sweetgum treatments. In the grass treatment, there were 1.08 (1.03-1.12; 95% C.I.; *p*-value < 0.001) times more adult females, and 1.05 (1.01-1.08; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.01) times more adult males with a 1 mg/L increase in nitrate concentration. In the sweetgum treatment, the same increase in nitrate concentration raised the number of adult females and males by 1.12 (1.01-1.24; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.03), and 1.16 (1.02-1.32; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.02) times, respectively. The number of adults in water oak and loblolly pine treatments were not affected by the initial nitrate and phosphate concentrations.

Initial phosphate concentrations were negatively correlated with the number of adult males only in the turfgrass treatment and had no significant effect on other treatments. For each 1 mg/L decrease in phosphate concentration there were 1.08 (1.00-1.18; 95% C.I.; *p*-value = 0.06) times as many adult males. Initial phosphate concentrations had no significant effect on the other treatments.

Weight, time to pupation, and sex correlation

Weights of adult females ranged from 0.59 g to 0.1g with an average of 0.20 \pm 0.07 g and were 0.06 \pm 0.05 g higher than those of adult males (*p*-value <0.001). Time to pupation varied among different vegetation inputs (Figure 4.3). Turfgrass and sweetgum treatments showed a significantly shorter time to pupation, averaging 16.6 \pm 0.3 and 15.3 \pm 1.3 days, respectively, in comparison to water oak and loblolly pine treatments where the average time to pupation was 39.4 \pm 1.1 and 30.0 \pm 0.9 days, respectively. Shorter pupation times for sweetgum and grass could be due to high DOC concentrations, which

provide more energy for the larvae while the growth is slower in the other treatments due to lack of food. Moreover, time to pupation varied with the sex of the mosquitoes and number of dead pupae. The longer the time to pupation, the fewer adult males developed $(r^2 = 0.73)$ and the percentage of dead pupae increased $(r^2 = 0.86)$, Figure 4.4). The percentage of female mosquitoes initially increased over time but declined after day 17 $(r^2 = 0.89)$. The longer time to pupation due to lack of food increased the ratio of adult females suggesting adult females may be more tolerant to a shortage of food. For a brief interval, water oak, and loblolly pine treatments with significantly higher times to pupation developed a higher number of adult females than adult males (Figure 4.2).

Discussion

The sweetgum treatment had the highest level of DOC among all treatments, despite the high lignin and lignin: N ratios. It has been shown that sweetgum leaves have more than fifty percent of phenolic compounds (Majidzadeh et al., 2015). Phenolic and humic substances are not a good source of food for microorganisms (Kaufman et al., 2002), suggesting that despite high levels of DOC in the sweetgum treatment, the phenolic portion of it is not usable for microorganisms and, as a result, for *Culex* larvae. However, even at very low levels of DOC in the other treatments, pupae did not die within the first week, and many lived for more than forty days. The death of larvae in the first week in sweetgum treatments suggests the presence of chemicals that prevent the growth of *Culex* larva. Some plant-born molecules have been documented to effectively prevent the growth of *Aedes, Ochlerotatus, Anopheles* and *Culex* larvae (Benelli et al., 2015; Benelli and Mehlhorn, 2016).

Turfgrass may have higher amounts of soluble organic matter in comparison to abscised leaves in both the laboratory and natural conditions. The solubility of organic matter depends on vegetation type, the degree of decomposition, and fluctuation in temperature (Harris and Safford, 1996). Turfgrass lawns in urban areas may be fertilized and irrigated while soil with hardwoods is usually covered with dead, decomposed leaf litter. Moreover, the fluctuation of temperature in the forest floor is less than that of urban grassed areas due to the moderating effect of tree cover (Harris and Safford, 1996, p. 29). As a result of high amounts of soluble organic matter, the fresh turfgrass treatment developed significantly higher numbers of pupae in comparison to the abscised leaf treatments. The number of pupae was positively correlated with DOC concentrations and negatively correlated with DP concentrations. It has been shown that higher phosphate concentrations can increase the time to pupation (Noori et al. 2015), which will result in higher numbers of dead pupae (Figure 4.4).

The number of female and male adults were positively correlated with DOC concentrations as expected, but only the number of adult females was positively correlated with DON concentrations. Since DON increases the algal development in the water (Berman, Tom and Chava, Sara, 1999) it can provide the additional source of food required for females to develop.

Initial nitrate concentrations were positively correlated with the number of pupae, female and male adults only in the turfgrass and sweetgum treatments which did not lack a carbon source. In other words, elevated pollutants such as nitrate and phosphate can increase the number of *Culex* pupae and adults but only in the presence of an adequate source of carbon.

Moreover, in the turfgrass and sweetgum treatment, the time to pupation was significantly shorter probably due to high DOC concentrations. Shorter time to pupation would increase the survival rate of the mosquitoes in natural environments. The longer time to pupation endangers the larvae and pupae through water evaporation, infections, and other aquatics that can use them as a food source (Maleknejad et al., 2014).

These results provide some insights into the *Culex* life cycle in container habitats with different sources of organic matter and nutrients. Urban grass clippings may produce a suitable habitat for urban mosquitoes and translate to a significantly higher survival rate in comparison to forested conditions. This is primarily due to the different chemistries for turfgrass vs. abscised tree leaves. Most of the forested areas in this region typically exhibit forest floors composed of abscised leaves while the turfgrasses in a residential area provide fresh lawnmower clippings most of the year. Water pooling in urban lawns may form due to the microsite variation (i.e. depressions in the urban yard) and provide habitat for mosquitoes. Additionally, grass clippings may be transported by water or the wind into pools, bird baths, and containers thereby providing additional nutrients and a carbon source which could be used by mosquitoes.

In this experiment, the effect of nutrients on the mosquito life cycle was highly correlated with vegetation type. Further studies are required to understand how various species affect the microorganism community in containers. A deeper insight into the effects of vegetation on water quality including phenolic, humic, and fluvic compounds and how they affect mosquito development is of great importance especially in light of

the diseases these vectors transmit to humans.

References Cited

- Allan, B.F., Langerhans, R.B., Ryberg, W.A., Landesman, W.J., Griffin, N.W., Katz, R.S., Oberle, B.J., Schutzenhofer, M.R., Smyth, K.N., de St. Maurice, A., Clark, L., Crooks, K.R., Hernandez, D.E., McLean, R.G., Ostfeld, R.S., Chase, J.M., 2009. Ecological correlates of risk and incidence of West Nile virus in the United States. Oecologia 158, 699–708. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1169-9
- Attar, N., 2016. ZIKA virus circulates in new regions. Nat Rev Micro 14, 62–62.
- Barrera, R., Amador, M., Clark, G.G., 2006. Ecological factors influencing Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) productivity in artificial containers in Salinas, Puerto Rico. J. Med. Entomol. 43, 484–492. doi:10.1093/jmedent/43.3.484
- Benelli, G., Mehlhorn, H., 2016. Declining malaria, rising of dengue and Zika virus: insights for mosquito vector control. Parasitol. Res. 115, 1747–1745. doi:10.1007/s00436-016-4971-z
- Benelli, G., Murugan, K., Panneerselvam, C., Madhiyazhagan, P., Conti, B., Nicoletti, M., 2015. Old ingredients for a new recipe? Neem cake, a low-cost botanical byproduct in the fight against mosquito-borne diseases. Parasitol. Res. 114, 391– 397. doi:10.1007/s00436-014-4286-x
- Berman, Tom, Chava, Sara, 1999. Algal growth on organic compounds as nitrogen sources. J. Plankton Res. 21, 1423–1437. doi:10.1093/plankt/21.8.1423
- Beyer, L., Blume, H.-P., Elsner, D.-C., 1995. Soil organic matter composition and microbial activity in urban soils. Sci. Total Environ. 168, 267–278. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(95)04704-5
- Bottomley, P.S., Angle, J.S., Weaver, R.W., Hart, S.C., Stark, J.M., Davidson, E.A., Firestone, M.K., 1994. Nitrogen Mineralization, Immobilization, and Nitrification, in: SSSA Book Series. Soil Science Society of America.
- Brown, H.E., Childs, J.E., Diuk-Wasser, M.A., Fish, D., 2008. Ecologic Factors Associated with West Nile Virus Transmission, Northeastern United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 14, 1539–1545. doi:10.3201/eid1410.071396
- Byrne, L.B., 2007. Habitat structure: A fundamental concept and framework for urban soil ecology. Urban Ecosyst. 10, 255–274. doi:10.1007/s11252-007-0027-6

- Cannell, M.G.R., Milne, R., Hargreaves, K.J., Brown, T. a. W., Cruickshank, M.M., Bradley, R.I., Spencer, T., Hope, D., Billett, M.F., Adger, W.N., Subak, S., 1999. National Inventories of Terrestrial Carbon Sources and Sinks: The U.K. Experience. Clim. Change 42, 505–530. doi:10.1023/A:1005425807434
- Chow, A.T., Dai, J., Conner, W.H., Hitchcock, D.R., Wang, J.-J., 2012. Dissolved organic matter and nutrient dynamics of a coastal freshwater forested wetland in Winyah Bay, South Carolina. Biogeochemistry 112, 571–587. doi:10.1007/s10533-012-9750-z
- Churkina, G., Brown, D.G., Keoleian, G., 2010. Carbon stored in human settlements: the conterminous United States: CARBON IN HUMAN SETTLEMENTS. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 135–143. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02002.x
- Coxe, S., West, S.G., Aiken, L.S., 2009. The Analysis of Count Data: A Gentle Introduction to Poisson Regression and Its Alternatives. J. Pers. Assess. 91, 121– 136. doi:10.1080/00223890802634175
- Devau, N., Cadre, E.L., Hinsinger, P., Jaillard, B., Gérard, F., 2009. Soil pH controls the environmental availability of phosphorus: Experimental and mechanistic modelling approaches. Appl. Geochem. 24, 2163–2174. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2009.09.020
- Dowling, Z., Armbruster, P., LaDeau, S.L., DeCotiis, M., Mottley, J., Leisnham, P.T., 2013. Linking Mosquito Infestation to Resident Socioeconomic Status, Knowledge, and Source Reduction Practices in Suburban Washington, DC. EcoHealth 10, 36–47. doi:10.1007/s10393-013-0818-6
- Edmondson, J.L., Davies, Z.G., McHugh, N., Gaston, K.J., Leake, J.R., 2012. Organic carbon hidden in urban ecosystems. Sci. Rep. 2. doi:10.1038/srep00963
- Elvidge, C.D., Milesi, C., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Nemani, R., Vogelmann, J.E., 2004. US constructed area approaches the size of Ohio. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 85, 233–233.
- Elvidge, C.D., Tuttle, B.T., Sutton, P.C., Baugh, K.E., Howard, A.T., Milesi, C., Bhaduri, B., Nemani, R., 2007. Global distribution and density of constructed impervious surfaces. Sensors 7, 1962–1979.
- Enloe, H.A., Lockaby, B.G., Zipperer, W.C., Somers, G.L., 2015. Urbanization effects on soil nitrogen transformations and microbial biomass in the subtropics. Urban Ecosyst. 18, 963–976. doi:10.1007/s11252-015-0462-8

- Ezenwa, V.O., Godsey, M.S., King, R.J., Guptill, S.C., 2006. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 109–117. doi:10.1098/rspb.2005.3284
- Fanin, N., Hättenschwiler, S., Fromin, N., 2014. Litter fingerprint on microbial biomass, activity, and community structure in the underlying soil. Plant Soil 379, 79–91. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2051-7
- Ge, C., Xue, D., Yao, H., 2010. Microbial Biomass, Community Diversity, and Enzyme Activities in Response to Urea Application in Tea Orchard Soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41, 797–810. doi:10.1080/00103621003592325
- Golubiewski, N.E., 2006. Urbanization increases grassland carbon pools: Effects of landscaping in Colorado's front range. Ecol. Appl. 16, 555–571.
- Groffman, M.P., Bohlen, J.P., Fisk, C.M., Fahey, J.T., 2004. Exotic Earthworm Invasion and Microbial Biomass in Temperate Forest Soils. Ecosystems 7, 45–54. doi:10.1007/s10021-003-0129-9
- Harris, M.M., Safford, L.O., 1996. EFFECTS OF SEASON AND FOUR TREE SPECIES ON SOLUBLE CARBON CONTENT IN FRESH AND DECOMPOSING LITTER OF TEMPERATE FORESTS1. Soil Sci. 161, 130– 135. doi:10.1097/00010694-199602000-00008
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014a. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2014b. Influence of aboveground tree biomass, home age, and yard maintenance on soil carbon levels in residential yards. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 787–805. doi:10.1007/s11252-014-0350-7
- Huyler, A., Chappelka, A.H., Prior, S.A., Somers, G.L., 2013. Drivers of soil carbon in residential "pure lawns" in Auburn, Alabama. Urban Ecosyst. 17, 205–219. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0294-3
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2016. Spatial analysis of aquifer response times for radial flow processes: Nondimensional analysis and laboratory-scale tests. J. Hydrol. 532, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.11.024
- Jazaei, F., Simpson, M.J., Clement, T.P., 2014. An analytical framework for quantifying aquifer response time scales associated with transient boundary conditions. J. Hydrol. 519, Part B, 1642–1648. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.09.018

- Jeffries, C.L., Walker, T., 2016. Wolbachia Biocontrol Strategies for Arboviral Diseases and the Potential Influence of Resident Wolbachia Strains in Mosquitoes. Curr. Trop. Med. Rep. 3, 20–25. doi:10.1007/s40475-016-0066-2
- Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2000. The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10, 423–436. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0423:TVDOSO]2.0.CO;2
- Johnson, N.F., Borror, D.J., 2005. Borror and DeLong's Introduction to the Study of Insects. Thompson Brooks/Cole.
- Johnson, P.C.D., Barry, S.J.E., Ferguson, H.M., Müller, P., 2015. Power analysis for generalized linear mixed models in ecology and evolution. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 133–142. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12306
- Jones, J.B., 1998. Soil test methods: Past, present, and future use of soil extractants. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 29, 1543–1552. doi:10.1080/00103629809370048
- Kaufman, M.G., Goodfriend, W., KohlerGarrigan, A., Walker, E.D., Klug, M.J., 2002. Soluble nutrient effects on microbial communities and mosquito production in Ochlerotatus triseriatus habitats. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 29, 73–88. doi:10.3354/ame029073
- Kaye, J., Groffman, P., Grimm, N., Baker, L., Pouyat, R., 2006. A distinct urban biogeochemistry? Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 192–199. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.12.006
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Randolph, S.E., 2012. Drivers, dynamics, and control of emerging vector-borne zoonotic diseases. The Lancet 380, 1946–1955.
- Kissel, D.E., Sonon, L., Vendrell, P.F., Isaac, R.A., 2009. Salt Concentration and Measurement of Soil pH. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 40, 179–187. doi:10.1080/00103620802625377
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. science 304, 1623–1627.
- Lehmann, A., Stahr, K., 2007. Nature and significance of anthropogenic urban soils. J. Soils Sediments 7, 247–260. doi:10.1065/jss2007.06.235
- Lorenz, K., Lal, R., 2009. Biogeochemical C and N cycles in urban soils. Environ. Int. 35, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2008.05.006
- Mafongoya, P.L., Barak, P., Reed, J.D., 2000. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus mineralization of tree leaves and manure. Biol. Fertil. Soils 30, 298–305. doi:10.1007/s003740050007

- Majidzadeh, H., Wang, J.-J., Chow, A.T., 2015. Prescribed Fire Alters Dissolved Organic Matter and Disinfection By-Product Precursors in Forested Watersheds - Part I. A Controlled Laboratory Study, in: Recent Advances in Disinfection By-Products, ACS Symposium Series. American Chemical Society, pp. 271–292.
- Maleknejad, R., Sudagar, M., Azimi, A., 2014. Effect of Different Live Foods Source (Culex Larvae, Chironomus Larvae and Artemia) on Pigmentation of Electric Yellow (Labidochromis Caeruleus). Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res. 2, 1287– 1295.
- Maria, V.D., Rahman, M., Collins, P., Dondi, G., Sangiorgi, C., 2013. Urban Heat Island Effect: Thermal Response from Different Types of Exposed Paved Surfaces. Int. J. Pavement Res. Technol. 6, 414–422. doi:10.6135/ijprt.org.tw/2013.6(4).414
- Martinez, N.G., Bettez, N.D., Groffman, P.M., 2014. Sources of variation in home lawn soil nitrogen dynamics. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 2146–2151. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.03.0103
- Menon, S., Denman, K.L., Brasseur, G., Chidthaisong, A., Ciais, P., Cox, P.M., Dickinson, R.E., Hauglustaine, D., Heinze, C., Holland, E., Jacob, D., Lohmann, U., Ramachandran, S., Leite da Silva Dias, P., Wofsy, S.C., Zhang, X., 2007. Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry (No. LBNL-464E). Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA (US).
- Milesi, C., Elvidge, C.D., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W., 2003. Assessing the impact of urban land development on net primary productivity in the southeastern United States. Remote Sens. Environ. 86, 401–410. doi:10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00081-6
- Milesi, C., Running, S.W., Elvidge, C.D., Dietz, J.B., Tuttle, B.T., Nemani, R.R., 2005. Mapping and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turf grasses in the United States. Environ. Manage. 36, 426–438. doi:10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2
- Miller, J.H., Robinson, K.S.;, 1995. A regional perspective of the physiographic provinces of the southeastern United States. pp. 1–3.
- Montague, T., Kjelgren, R., 2004. Energy balance of six common landscape surfaces and the influence of surface properties on gas exchange of four containerized tree species. Sci. Hortic. 100, 229–249. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2003.08.010
- Noori, N., Lockaby, B.G., Kalin, L., 2015. Larval Development of Culex quinquefasciatus in Water with Low to Moderate Pollution Levels. J. Vector Ecol. 40, 208–220. doi:10.1111/jvec.12156

- Norris, D.E., 2004. Mosquito-borne Diseases as a Consequence of Land Use Change. EcoHealth 1, 19–24. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0008-7
- Pataki, D.E., Alig, R.J., Fung, A.S., Golubiewski, N.E., Kennedy, C.A., Mcpherson, E.G., Nowak, D.J., Pouyat, R.V., Romero Lankao, P., 2006. Urban ecosystems and the North American carbon cycle. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 2092–2102. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01242.x
- Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS, 2013. West nile virus: Review of the literature. JAMA 310, 308–315. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.8042
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Golubiewski, N.E., 2009. A comparison of soil organic carbon stocks between residential turf grass and native soil. Urban Ecosyst. 12, 45–62. doi:10.1007/s11252-008-0059-6
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006a. Carbon storage by urban soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566–1575.
- Pouyat, R.V., Yesilonis, I.D., Nowak, D.J., 2006b. Carbon Storage by Urban Soils in the United States. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1566. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0215
- Qian, Y., Follett, R.F., 2002. Assessing soil carbon sequestration in turfgrass systems using long-term soil testing data. Agron. J. 94, 930–935.
- Raciti, S.M., Groffman, P.M., Fahey, T.J., 2008. Nitrogen retention in urban lawns and forests. Ecol. Appl. Publ. Ecol. Soc. Am. 18, 1615–1626. doi:10.1890/07-1062.1
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012a. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Raciti, S.M., Hutyra, L.R., Finzi, A.C., 2012b. Depleted soil carbon and nitrogen pools beneath impervious surfaces. Environ. Pollut. 164, 248–251. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.01.046
- Rao, P., Hutyra, L.R., Raciti, S.M., Finzi, A.C., 2013. Field and remotely sensed measures of soil and vegetation carbon and nitrogen across an urbanization gradient in the Boston metropolitan area. Urban Ecosyst. 16, 593–616. doi:10.1007/s11252-013-0291-6
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009a. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011
- Scalenghe, R., Marsan, F.A., 2009b. The anthropogenic sealing of soils in urban areas. Landsc. Urban Plan. 90, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.10.011

- Schaldach, R., Alcamo, J., 2007. Simulating the effects of urbanization, afforestation and cropland abandonment on a regional carbon balance: a case study for Central Germany. Reg. Environ. Change 7, 137–148. doi:10.1007/s10113-007-0034-4
- Scharenbroch, B.C., Lloyd, J.E., Johnson-Maynard, J.L., 2005. Distinguishing urban soils with physical, chemical, and biological properties. Pedobiologia 49, 283–296. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2004.12.002
- Schoonover, J.E., Lockaby, B.G., 2006. Land cover impacts on stream nutrients and fecal coliform in the lower Piedmont of West Georgia. J. Hydrol. 331, 371–382. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.05.031
- Selhorst, A.L., Lal, R., 2011. Carbon budgeting in golf course soils of Central Ohio. Urban Ecosyst. 14, 771–781. doi:10.1007/s11252-011-0168-5
- Shuster, W.D., Bonta, J., Thurston, H., Warnemuende, E., Smith, D.R., 2005. Impacts of impervious surface on watershed hydrology: A review. Urban Water J. 2, 263– 275. doi:10.1080/15730620500386529
- Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 2004. Survey Laboratory Methods Manual.
- Soldat, D.J., Petrovic, A.M., 2008. The Fate and Transport of Phosphorus in Turfgrass Ecosystems. Crop Sci. 48, 2051. doi:10.2135/cropsci2008.03.0134
- Sollins, P., Homann, P., Caldwell, B.A., 1996. Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74, 65–105. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(96)00036-5
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M.A., Crawford, J.W., Field, D.J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Courcelles, V. de R. de, Singh, K., Wheeler, I., Abbott, L., Angers, D.A., Baldock, J., Bird, M., Brookes, P.C., Chenu, C., Jastrow, J.D., Lal, R., Lehmann, J., O'Donnell, A.G., Parton, W.J., Whitehead, D., Zimmermann, M., 2013. The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 164, 80–99. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001
- Takebayashi, H., Moriyama, M., 2007. Surface heat budget on green roof and high reflection roof for mitigation of urban heat island. Build. Environ. 42, 2971–2979. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.06.017
- Tomlinson, R.W., Milne, R.M., 2006. Soil carbon stocks and land cover in Northern Ireland from 1939 to 2000. Appl. Geogr. 26, 18–39. doi:10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.10.001
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2014. World urbanization prospects: the 2014 revision : highlights.
- Urban, M.C., Skelly, D.K., Burchsted, D., Price, W., Lowry, S., 2006. Stream communities across a rural-urban landscape gradient. Divers. Htmlent Glyphamp Asciiamp Distrib. 12, 337–350. doi:10.1111/j.1366-9516.2005.00226.x
- U.S. Census Bureau, 2013. American Housing Survey (AHS) [WWW Document]. URL http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/ahs.html (accessed 6.19.16).
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils: The use of the chloroform fumigation-incubation method in strongly acid soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 19, 697–702. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90051-4
- Wang, J.-J., Dahlgren, R.A., Erşan, M.S., Karanfil, T., Chow, A.T., 2015. Wildfire Altering Terrestrial Precursors of Disinfection Byproducts in Forest Detritus. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 5921–5929. doi:10.1021/es505836m
- Wang, Y., Zhang, D., Shen, Z., Feng, C., Chen, J., 2013. Revealing Sources and Distribution Changes of Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM) in Pore Water of Sediment from the Yangtze Estuary. PLOS ONE 8, e76633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076633
- Wardle, D.A., 1992. A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. Biol. Rev. 67, 321–358.
- Wei, Z., 2014. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLoS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Lin, C., 2013. Installation of impervious surface in urban areas affects microbial biomass, activity (potential C mineralisation), and functional diversity of the fine earth. Soil Res. 51, 59. doi:10.1071/SR12089
- Wei, Z., Wu, S., Yan, X., Zhou, S., 2014a. Density and Stability of Soil Organic Carbon beneath Impervious Surfaces in Urban Areas. PLOS ONE 9, e109380. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109380
- Wei, Z., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014b. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- Wei, Z.-Q., Wu, S.-H., Zhou, S.-L., Li, J.-T., Zhao, Q.-G., 2014. Soil Organic Carbon Transformation and Related Properties in Urban Soil Under Impervious Surfaces. Pedosphere 24, 56–64. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(13)60080-6
- West, T.O., Six, J., 2007. Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Clim. Change 80, 25–41. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8

- Wu, X., Hu, D., Ma, S., Zhang, X., Guo, Z., Gaston, K.J., 2016. Elevated soil CO2 efflux at the boundaries between impervious surfaces and urban greenspaces. Atmos. Environ. 141, 375–378. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.06.050
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015a. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Yan, Y., Kuang, W., Zhang, C., Chen, C., 2015b. Impacts of impervious surface expansion on soil organic carbon – a spatially explicit study. Sci. Rep. 5, 17905. doi:10.1038/srep17905
- Zhao, D., Li, F., Wang, R., Yang, Q., Ni, H., 2012. Effect of soil sealing on the microbial biomass, N transformation and related enzyme activities at various depths of soils in urban area of Beijing, China. J. Soils Sediments 12, 519–530. doi:10.1007/s11368-012-0472-6

Tables and graphs

Table 4.1. The experimental design was factorial with five types of vegetation and five levels of nutrients with three replicates.

Vegetation			Nutrient levels			
Input						
no vegetation	No nutrients added	$NO_{3}^{-} = 3 \text{ mg/L}$	$NO_3^- = 12 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L}$	
sweetgum	No nutrients added	$NO_3^- = 3 \text{ mg/L}$	$NO_{3}^{-} = 12 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L}$	
water oak	No nutrients added	$NO_3^- = 3 \text{ mg/L}$	$NO_{3}^{-} = 12 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L}$	
loblolly pine	No nutrients added	$NO_{3}^{-} = 3 \text{ mg/L}$	$NO_{3}^{-} = 12 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L}$	
turfgrass	No nutrients added	$NO_{3}^{-} = 3 \text{ mg/L}$	$NO_3^- = 12 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 1 \text{ mg/L}$	$PO_4^{3-} = 6 \text{ mg/L}$	

Table 4.2. Carbon (n = 2), nitrogen (n = 2) and lignin (n = 1) concentrations in turfgrass and abscised leaves used in the mosquito microcosm experiment. Column means \pm standard are significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$

Carbon (g Kg ⁻¹)	Nitrogen (g Kg ⁻¹)	C: N	Lignin (g Kg ⁻¹)
$45.69\pm0.11c$	$0.59\pm0.031b$	$76.55\pm4.09\ c$	23.65
$47.07 \pm 0.024 \; b$	$0.72\pm0.04~b$	65.85 ± 3.71 b	29.79
50.58 ± 0.24 a	$0.34\pm0.005\ c$	148.56 ± 1.69 a	31.11
$42.85\pm0.12~d$	1.37 ± 0.033 a	31.30 ± 0.84 d	3.73
	Carbon (g Kg ⁻¹) $45.69 \pm 0.11c$ $47.07 \pm 0.024 b$ $50.58 \pm 0.24 a$ $42.85 \pm 0.12 d$	Carbon (g Kg ⁻¹)Nitrogen (g Kg ⁻¹) $45.69 \pm 0.11c$ $0.59 \pm 0.031b$ $47.07 \pm 0.024 b$ $0.72 \pm 0.04 b$ $50.58 \pm 0.24 a$ $0.34 \pm 0.005 c$ $42.85 \pm 0.12 d$ $1.37 \pm 0.033 a$	Carbon (g Kg ⁻¹)Nitrogen (g Kg ⁻¹)C: N $45.69 \pm 0.11c$ $0.59 \pm 0.031b$ $76.55 \pm 4.09 c$ $47.07 \pm 0.024 b$ $0.72 \pm 0.04 b$ $65.85 \pm 3.71 b$ $50.58 \pm 0.24 a$ $0.34 \pm 0.005 c$ $148.56 \pm 1.69 a$ $42.85 \pm 0.12 d$ $1.37 \pm 0.033 a$ $31.30 \pm 0.84 d$

Table 4.3. Results of a generalized mixed model for parameters related to number of pupae, adult female and male mosquitoes without sweetgum treatments. Estimates (Rate ratios) are calculated using the link function of $e^{(coefficient)}$. Significant parameters depicted in bold (*p*-value < 0.1).

Mosquito stage		Rate ratio	95% Confidence Level		<i>p</i> -value
Pupae	(Intercept)	0.40	0.13	1.28	0.120
	DOC	1.06	1.02	1.10	0.001
	SUVA	1.01	0.95	1.07	0.790
	DON	0.80	0.23	2.75	0.720
	DP	0.95	0.88	1.02	0.081
Female adult	(Intercept)	0.01	0.00	0.10	0.000
	DOC	1.07	1.00	1.15	0.046
	SUVA	1.05	0.93	1.18	0.410
	DON	7.42	0.67	81.53	0.094
	DP	0.93	0.81	1.06	0.260
Male adult	(Intercept)	0.01	0.00	0.13	0.000
	DOC	1.09	1.03	1.16	0.003
	SUVA	1.00	0.90	1.10	0.942
	DON	0.21	0.03	1.64	0.130
	DP	0.88	0.77	1.00	0.048



Figure 4.1. Variation in DOC over time (40 days, n = 3 at each measurement). Means \pm standard error followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 4.2. Percent larvae developed to pupae, female, and male adults. Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 4.3. Comparison of time to pupation among different vegetation treatments. Means \pm standard error followed by the same letter are not significantly different based on Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) tests at $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 4.4. The percent of male, female, and dead pupae developed during the first 30 days of experiment averaged across all treatments.

Appendix

Results of a generalized mixed model for parameters related to number of pupae, adult female and male mosquitoes with sweetgum treatments included. Estimates (Rate ratios) are calculated using the link function of $e^{(coefficient)}$. Significant parameters depicted in bold (p-value < 0.1).

Mosquito stage		Rate Ratio	95% Confi	dence Level	<i>p</i> -value
Pupae	(Intercept)	0.71	0.27	1.87	0.48
	DOC	1	0.98	1.03	0.79
	SUVA	1.06	1	1.12	0.05
	TDN	2.21	0.72	6.79	0.15
	DP	0.91	0.85	0.97	0.005
Female adults	(Intercept)	0.05	0.01	0.39	0.003
	DOC	0.97	0.92	1.02	0.172
	SUVA	1.11	1	1.23	0.054
	DON	1.36	1.12	1.66	0.002
	DP	1.02	0.91	1.14	0.782
Male adults	(Intercept)	0.03	0	0.4	0.006
	DOC	0.98	0.92	1.03	0.39
	SUVA	1.14	1.03	1.26	0.01
	DON	0.29	0.05	1.81	0.18
	DP	0.95	0.84	1.06	0.329

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Summary

This research had two primary objectives: to determine effects of urbanization on A) soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics beneath impervious surfaces, and B) reproduction of urban mosquito populations as a global threat to public health (West Nile virus). In both cases, the land use and land cover change were the drivers of the negative impacts on the ecosystem. A rapid expansion of impervious surfaces and urban lawns affected soil carbon storage and sequestration rates. However, changes in soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics are not the only consequences of urbanization. Urbanization may increase the survival rates of the mosquitoes by creating suitable breeding habitats.

To address the first objective and understand the soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics beneath impervious surfaces a field controlled study, and a field chronosequence study was conducted. Both studies revealed a significant decrease in soil carbon beneath the impervious surfaces. In the controlled study, soil carbon content decreased by 48.39 % (\pm 16.29 %) and 56.99 % (\pm 8.59 %) beneath the concrete and homes respectively compared to reference plots in top 10 cm. Temporally, soil carbon content decreased by 0.04 kg m⁻² and 0.02 kg m⁻² per month beneath the concrete plots at depth 0-10, and 10-20 cm respectively. Top soil removal was the primary cause of the decrease in soil carbon and nitrogen content beneath impervious surfaces. Moreover, the decrease in carbon sequestration rates or decrease in carbon content over time can increase the difference between open soils and soil beneath impervious surfaces as observed in the field chronosequence study (second study). In the second study, the soil beneath the homes ranging from 11 to 114 years in age was sampled and compared to

adjoining urban lawns. The differences in C content beneath the homes and adjoining lawns increased over time and reached its maximum (more than 90 %) at age 53 years. Following that, it decreased between ages 53 and 114 years. The results from both studies are suggesting that soil beneath the homes built on crawl spaces is not as sealed as the soil beneath the slabs. This was further confirmed by higher volumetric water content beneath the homes at depth 10-20 cm compared to concrete plots in the controlled study. Homes had higher carbon content at depth 10-20 cm than that in concrete plots. Similar carbon content beneath the home and concrete plots at top 10 cm is probably due to high carbon loss beneath the homes from oxidation since the top soil is not protected by vegetation or concrete. This pattern was further confirmed by higher C_{mic}: C ratio beneath the homes compared to other treatments at depth 0-10 cm. Higher C_{mic} : C ratio beneath the homes compared to urban lawns also observed in the field study. Both the controlled and filled study revealed that soil carbon dynamics beneath different impervious surfaces (homes built on crawl space vs. concrete in this study) are not the same, and parameters such as the type of structure, topsoil removal depth, age, and climate would affect these dynamics.

A significant decrease in soil total nitrogen was observed in both studies. The soil total nitrogen decreased by 42.43 % (\pm 16.90 %) and 53 % (\pm 13.40 %) beneath the concrete and homes at layer one in the controlled study. The decrease in soil total nitrogen in the field study was higher 65.77 % (\pm 5.65 %) which is probably due to the higher age of those structures and reduced sequestration rates. This was expected because

negative, or zero net ammonium production rates were observed beneath impervious surfaces in the controlled study which result in a decrease in soil total nitrogen over time.

The second objective of this research was addressed through a laboratory microcosm study. One means through which urbanization may affect mosquito habitat is through changes in vegetation. Water quality may be affected by the surrounding vegetation which serves as a source of organic matter for mosquito larvae. The effect of vegetation on water quality may be magnified when native forests are replaced with lawns due to urbanization. The forest floor, naturally covered with dead and decomposed leaves, is replaced by highly managed lawns (i.e. fertilized, weed removal, clipped regularly). We found that the number of pupae and adult males was positively correlated with dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and negatively correlated with dissolved phosphate (DP). The number of adult females was similarly affected by DOC and DP while dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) was also a key factor for their development. Abscised leaf treatments had significantly lower survival rates than grass treatments with maximum pupae development of 3.93 ± 2.29 % in the pine treatment and 1.92 ± 1.72 % adult development in the sweetgum treatment. Grass treatments developed 28.50 ± 5.75 % and 22.50 ± 4.79 % pupae and adult mosquitoes respectively. This study highlights the importance of variation in litter quality in the ponded water on survival rates of the *Culex* mosquitoes. Urban grass clippings may produce a suitable habitat for urban mosquitoes and translate to a significantly higher survival rate in comparison to forested conditions. This is primarily due to the different chemistries for turfgrass vs. abscised tree leaves. Most of the forested areas in this region typically exhibit forest floors composed of

abscised leaves while the turfgrasses in residential areas provide fresh lawnmower clippings most of the year. Water pooling in urban lawns may form due to the microsite variation (i.e. depressions in the urban yard) and provide habitat for mosquitoes. Additionally, grass clippings may be transported by water or the wind into pools, bird baths, and containers thereby providing additional nutrients and a carbon source which could be used by mosquitoes.